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Friday, January 10, 2024
--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good morning and welcome back, everybody, to the second day of the technical conference in the OEB file No. EB-2024-0331.
Preliminary Matters

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  A couple of preliminary matters.  First, an updated schedule for today's order was circulated by Ms. Ing about 5:19 yesterday, and that schedule contemplates that we will go to 11:00 a.m. and then break at 11:00, resume at 11:15.  We'll see how it goes from there.  Obviously, we might have some changes in that schedule, depending on how things evolve.

A couple of other preliminary matters.  Firstly, during yesterday's technical conference, a clarification question was raised about the oral hearing and some of the wording in decision MP02.  Namely, the question was whether oral argument was to be made at the oral hearing which is scheduled to take place next week, January 15 to 17.  Staff obtained the direction from the Panel, and the Panel clarified that the expectation is not to have oral arguments at the end of the oral hearing but just written arguments.  And that is clear in the procedural order.  A section of PO2 states what the order of arguments is to be filed, and then there is a Panel question day after that, so, if the Panel does have questions about the parties' submissions, that can be addressed then.

The other matter that arose yesterday:  There were some documents circulated by IESO counsel through e-mail, about 9:51 a.m., and, in a reply e-mail around 3:15 p.m., counsel for NQS advised that it objects to those documents being presented to the NQS witnesses today.

The Panel is aware of the objection, and the Panel has directed that, given the objection and that it is on the basis of confidentiality, of privilege, the document will not be allowed as an exhibit at the technical conference today, nor will questions on the documents be allowed.  However, the Panel instructed that, if the IESO does wish to introduce this document, it can file a written submission on Monday the 13th, and explain what the purpose is of the document and why it is or is not confidential, whether it should be treated as confidential or not.

The Panel believes this is the one document, that it shouldn't be a very lengthy submission or complex submission, so it provided for a rather tight deadline for IESO to make its written submission, and that is by noon on Monday, January 13.  And then, for NQS to respond to the IESO submission, again that's a tight timeline, but by 4:30 p.m. on Monday, January 13.

Then the Panel will consider submissions and make a ruling on that document.  Possibly they will even have a decision for the very next day, but, at the latest, the issue will be addressed by the beginning or at the beginning of the oral hearing starting on Wednesday, January 15.

So I will leave it at that, and, if parties have any issues about those timelines for the submissions that have been directed by the Panel, send an e-mail to Staff, and we will follow up further.

Okay.  So, with that, we will start with the questioning of NQS witnesses.  Mr. Vellone, could you once again, for the record, introduce those witnesses and have them spell their names for the record, and then we will start with questions by either Mr. Zacher or Mr. Duffy.

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  Why don't I get the witnesses to do a quick audio check at the same time.  State your name, spell it for the benefit of the court reporter and the others who are asking questions.  Mr. Chee-Aloy, can you start?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Thank you, Mr. Vallone.  I am Jason Chee-Aloy.  Last name is spelled C-H-E-E-A-L-O-Y.  I am the managing director of Power Advisory.

MR. YAUCH:  Good morning, everyone.  I am Brady Yauch, last name Y-A-U-C-H.  I am senior manager of markets and regulatory affairs at the Power Advisory.

MR. KILLEAVY:  And my name is Michael Killeavy.  Last name is spelled K-I-L-L-E-A-V-Y, and I am commercial director at Power Advisory.
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MR. VELLONE:  As noted in our cover letter that was filed with the Power Advisory evidence, we are going to be looking to have the Panel of Commissioners accept Power Advisory as expert witnesses.  So I guess are there questions or objections to that qualification that is going to impact us today, or would you prefer to deal with that next week, during the oral hearing?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I will leave that to IESO, Mr. Zacher and Mr. Duffy, and their questioning, whether they want to question the Power Advisory qualifications, and we will go from there.  It would have to be done -- unless IESO agrees and consents to have them qualified as expert witnesses, that will have to be done at the oral hearing this week.

MR. ZACHER:  Ms. Djurdjevic, we intend to ask some questions on qualifications, much the same way Mr. Boyle did yesterday.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  We'll deal with that when we come to it, then.  Now, the Power Advisory witnesses are ready to be examined by counsel for IESO.  And I trust that you probably have a document brief you would like to have marked as an exhibit, Mr. Zacher or Mr. Duffy?


MR. ZACHER:  No, we don't, but we will be referring to documents that are all contained in the record and for the most part will concern the Power Advisory report, so it should be pretty easy to navigate.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.

MR. ZACHER:  So I'll just start off.  I want to make one preliminary comment with regards the second matter that you addressed at the opening, with regards to the new documents that we delivered yesterday.  We would have thought that those documents would have been addressed -- would have been left to be addressed by Mr. Vellone in much the same way as we had dealt with the documents that Mr. Vellone delivered the night before and that we would explain the reason why we wish to examine on them.  And Mr. Vellone could make -- he could agree or make a refusal.  In any event, we'll comply with the direction that we understand has been given by the Panel.

So I'm going to initially start with some questions, and then I'm going to turn it over to my colleague, Mr. Duffy.
Examination by Mr. Zacher

MR. ZACHER:  Good morning, Mr. Chee-Aloy, Mr. Killeavy, and Mr. Yauch.  I expect you all have the Power Advisory report in front of you.  Okay.  And that is the report titled, "Expert Evidence and appeal," dated December 18, 2024.  It indicates on the front cover that it's prepared by each of you, Mr. Yauch, Mr. Killeavy, and Mr. Chee-Aloy, so I just want to confirm that it's a jointly authored report.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.  It is a jointly authored report.

MR. ZACHER:  Are there certain sections or subject matter in the report that are principally the responsibility of each of you?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Mr. Zacher, when it comes to the analysis dealing with how explaining how NQS generators operate in the wholesale market today, under its present design and rules, comparing the operation of NQS generators to how they will operate under the Market Renewal Program design and rules, including all examples provided in the document, Mr. Yauch was responsible for those, and he was the lead in terms of all the sections relevant to the areas I just described.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Were there any areas of the report, Mr. Chee-Aloy, that you were the lead?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Mr. Zacher, I provided overall guidance in terms of the structure of the report, the logic and rationale that build throughout the report.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Killeavy, you are the director, I guess commercial director, at Power Advisory; is that right?

MR. KILLEAVY:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And your background is principally in the area of negotiating power contracts, contract management, project management; that's what your CV indicates?

Mr. Killeavy:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And so, did you principally have responsibility for section 7 of the report regarding MRP implications relating to contract amendments?

Mr. Killeavy:  Correct

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And the other areas of the report where implications with regards to contracts are addressed?

Mr. Killeavy:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Thank you.  And are there any other areas of the report, Mr. Killeavy, that you had principal responsibility for?

Mr. Killeavy:  No.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  The front page of the report indicates, "with instructions from Borden Ladner Gervais."  Do you see that?  Mr. Chee-Aloy, do you see that?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yes, I do, Mr. Zacher.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  I didn't see anywhere in the report where the instructions from BLG are referenced; did I miss that?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  That would be, Mr. Zacher, in the report, as indicated by the numbers of pages on the bottom left-hand corner, page number 5, paragraph 1.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Did you receive -- so let me back up.  I guess you're referring to the statement that you were retained by BLG to provide evidence regarding the financial harm facing a group of non-quick start generators; is that what you're referring to?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Did you receive other -- did you receive specific written instructions from BLG?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Mr. Zacher, there is a retainer letter.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And does that more specifically set out what your instructions are?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I would have to go back and look at the retainer letter.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  What's the date of that retainer letter?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I don't recall.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Vellone, could I ask that the retainer letter be produced?

MR. VELLONE:  We'll get that marked as an undertaking.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JT2.1.
UNDERTAKING JT2.1:  NQS TO PRODUCE THE RETAINER LETTER OF MR. CHEE-ALOY.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chee-Aloy, other than that retainer letter, were there any further written instructions that you received from BLG?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  No.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  How about updated instructions that were communicated verbally?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  No.  We were engaged on the basis of the retainer letter, as embodied in our expert report.

MR. ZACHER:  When did you first begin preparing the report?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I would have to go back and, like I said, I don't recall exactly the date of the retainer letter.  So it was sometime after that with respect to the report itself.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  So, what month?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Again, I would have to go back.  If you give me a minute, I can probably try to -- I can probably look it up.

MR. ZACHER:  Sure.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Okay.  Okay.  I am toggling between screens now.  I do have the retainer letter in front of me on my screen.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  What's the date of it?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Sorry.  October 30th, 2024.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Yauch, I gather you're the person at Power Advisory that principally drafted the report?

MR. YAUCH:  I drafted a significant portion of it, yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And do you recall when you first started to  draft the report?

MR. YAUCH:  Probably around November-ish, probably would have been after the appeal would have been filed.  So, I don't know when the exact date was, but it would have been sometime in November.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  I note the report doesn't make any reference to the IESO's descriptive market rule evidence, the initial piece of evidence that that was brought by the IESO.  Is there a reason for that, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  Can you say that again?  Descriptive evidence, I don't know what that is.

MR. ZACHER:  So, you recall that the IESO filed two pieces of evidence, most recently its responding evidence, but earlier in December it was --


MR. YAUCH:  I understand.  Yeah, yeah.  Largely descriptive evidence we thought was providing a very clear example or description of what the market rule amendments were and we felt we wanted to put some of that description and understanding in our own report, so we did.  So, there is no reason why we did or did not refer to the IESO's evidence.

MR. ZACHER:  So, you didn't have any material disagreement with what was stated in the IESO's descriptive evidence?

MR. YAUCH:  Nothing material that would have resulted in us changing our report, no.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I might add, Mr. Zacher, that we did note that that descriptive evidence was just that.  Market renewal is a massive program with thousands and thousands of new rule amendments and amendments to existing rules.  And our focus was on the scope regarding non-quick start generators.  So, we found the IESO descriptive evidence to be just that, descriptive evidence regarding the entirety of market renewal.

MR. ZACHER:  This might be a question for Mr. Vellone.  Mr. Vellone, how do you propose to qualify each of Mr. Chee-Aloy, Mr. Yauch, and Mr. Killeavy?

MR. VELLONE:  The proposal is as per the cover letter that we included with the evidence submission, Mr. Zacher.  And I think in that cover letter our plan was to qualify the Power Advisory collectively, and we enumerated, I think, three or four areas specifically that we are seeking to qualify them with respect to.  So, we are trying to be clear.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Can you refresh my memory as to what those areas are?

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly.  You have to give me a second to pull up my letter, please.  If Mr. Boyle has it before me, I'll let him jump in as well.

MR. BOYLE:  So, I'll read out paragraph 2 of the letter dated December 18, 2024:
"The NQS Generation Group retained three experts from Power Advisory LLC who will opine on the following expertise:  Energy markets, wholesale market design, energy contract design and operations and energy policy."

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Boyle, I'm sorry, I got energy markets, wholesale market design -- what were the other two?

MR. BOYLE:  Energy contract design and operations and energy policy.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Vellone, which of those areas are you proposing to qualify each of the witnesses in?

MR. VELLONE:  The energy markets, wholesale market design and energy policy I would propose to qualify both Mr. Yauch and Mr. Chee-Aloy.  For energy contract design, I would be proposing to qualify Mr. Killeavy and Mr. Chee-Aloy.

MR. ZACHER:  What's Mr. Killeavy's continuing role as a witness, given that matters relating to contracts have been ruled out of scope?

MR. VELLONE:  We didn't know what questions you would ask, so we have made him available because he is partial author of the report, and we are unclear what types of questions on the report might be asked, whether by the IESO, OEB Staff, the Panel members themselves or any of the other parties.  So we did not want to exclude him for that purpose.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Yauch, I am wondering if we could turn up your CV which is attached to your report.


MR. YAUCH:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Can you identify what on your CV qualifies you as an expert in energy markets, energy market design or energy policy?

Actually, sorry, leave out energy policy -- just energy markets and energy market design.

MR. YAUCH:  First is my experience in the market assessment unit at the IESO.  Secondly, there is the last five years I have been at Power Advisory; I've been retained by clients all across Ontario, Canada, Northeastern United States to understand and analyze, by research, commentary regarding wholesale markets, wholesale market design, price forecasting, commitment, dispatch.

I have been sworn for the OEB, on market -- as an expert on market issues.  I have appeared before multiple arbitrations as an expert, particularly on Ontario market design, but market design in general.

MR. ZACHER:  And how long were you at the IESO?

MR. YAUCH:  Just under two years.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And what did you do at the IESO?

MR. YAUCH:  The market assessment unit is a, let's call it a research and analysis division that supports the Markets Balance Panel.  So many of the reports that are, I think, have been submitted or referenced as part of this proceeding, many of those are written and drafted and supported through analysis by the market assessment unit that works with the MSP to analyze competitiveness, efficiency in the Ontario wholesale market.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And, Mr. Yauch, you are familiar with the IESO's witnesses, Mr. Nusbaum and Mr. Matsugu?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.  I don't know them personally; I never worked with them.  But yes, I know who they are.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And you appreciate that they have both been at the IESO full time for 15 years, and they are the two senior directors responsible for markets and market evolution in the case of Mr. Matsugu, and market implementation in the case of Mr. Nusbaum?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.  I recognize their professional background.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And I appreciate that you have some differences with the IESO's evidence, but you don't question that they have a high level of knowledge, experience, and subject matter expertise with regards to wholesale markets and wholesale market design?

MR. YAUCH:  I recognize that in those roles they would have to have an understanding of the Ontario wholesale market in particular.  I don't know about outside of Ontario, but yes, they would at least have to have a high-level understanding of the Ontario market.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Mr. Chee-Aloy, you attribute your expertise in wholesale electricity markets and wholesale market design to the matters you have referenced in your CV; is that right?  Maybe we can turn that up.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  That's correct.  And there are things that are not in my CV that have been recently engaged in, across Canada, that I think are applicable that I am happy to speak to.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  But if we look at your CV --

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yeah.

MR. ZACHER:  -- you attribute much of your expertise in wholesale electricity markets and market design to the work that you did at the IESO, which included working as part of the implementation team on the launch of the new market in 2002.  That's one issue, right?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yeah.  That's certainly an area that I worked in.  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And your further work at the IESO developing and drafting Market Rules and implementing short-term resource adequacy programs?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And further work at the IESO relating to market surveillance and compliance matters, including working on the development of Market Rules in that regard?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And acting for the IESO as a facilitator and consultant for the IESO's electricity market forum.  Yes?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yes, yeah.

MR. ZACHER:  And acting for multiple generators and other parties as part of the more recent IESO MRP processes; is that right?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  So in summary, you base your expertise in wholesale markets in large part based on your IESO experience?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yes.  And, in addition to that, I have been most recently working in Alberta based on the Alberta Electricity System Operator's stakeholder engagement process called restructured energy market, or REM, to which they are redesigning their entire market.  And I have been engaged by a group of 16 generators, called the Renewable Generator Alliance.

So that's going on in parallel, right now, and it's a recent engagement.  And that's why it didn't make my CV.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay. Thank you.  So I appreciate you worked at, for some time, at the IESO, the OPA in the areas of contract management and procurement.  But what was the period of time that you worked at the IESO in the areas of market design, Market Rules, et cetera?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  It is 1999 to 2005.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And you don't contest what your colleague Mr. Yauch said with regards to Mr. Nusbaum and Mr. Matsugu's qualifications?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Well, I will point out one thing when it comes to Mr. Nusbaum.  You mentioned 15 years at the IESO.  The IESO and the OPA merged back in, I think, 2014.  I had already left the IESO -- or sorry, the OPA, because I was employed at the OPA between 2005 and 2010.

Mr. Nusbaum worked in my group at the OPA.  So I can attest to the types of things that he was doing at the OPA.  So, while he was working at the OPA, as I recall, he wasn't obviously working at the IESO, and he wasn't working in the areas of market design or Market Rules.

MR. ZACHER:  Right.  But, at present, he is the director of MRP implementation.  Do you recognize that?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yes, I recognize the titles and the responsibilities that go along with what Mr. Matsugu and Mr. Nusbaum are doing, right now, for the IESO.

MR. ZACHER:  Right.  And he's been in that role since 2023; you are aware of that?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I am.

MR. ZACHER:  You have received presentations from Mr. Nusbaum as part of your representation on the technical panel?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And you are aware that, from 2020 to 2023, Mr. Nusbaum was manager of performance, applications, and integration?  And before that, from 2017 to 2020, he was responsible for design and capacity auction?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yeah, and correct.  I acknowledge all of that.  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And so just to come back, you don't dispute Mr. Yauch's statements with regards to Mr. Nusbaum's qualifications?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I don't, only with the clarification of the time frame to which Mr. Nusbaum has been working, as you had called it, at the IESO.  So I think it needs to be factored in, exactly how long.

I don't have a problem with Mr. Nusbaum at all in terms of the roles that he has been given while at the IESO as opposed to the OPA.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Mr. Chee-Aloy, the Board has ruled that contract matters are out of scope, and I don't want to ask you about your opinion in that regard.

But I do want to ask about your opinion relating to the impacts of the MRP amendments on NQS Generators' participation revenues in the wholesale market.  Okay?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  All right.

MR. ZACHER:  And, as a starting point, I understand it is your opinion that in assessing MRP amendments' impacts on generators' participation and revenues in the market, that there is an interconnection between the wholesale market and contracts, and that it is important to consider both of those impacts.  Is that right?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  That's what you stated in your evidence, and you state that contract impacts and Market Rule impacts are, in your view, inseparable?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I stand by that.  Yes, I believe that.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Has Power Advisory ever been retained by or done work for any of the Applicants with respect to the matters that are the subject of this application and Power Advisory's evidence?  And by that I mean MRP impacts on NQS Generators, market participation and revenues or contract revenues or both?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Right.  The IESO started market renewal back in 2016, so, given our firm, Power Advisory, as well as my role in Power Advisory, it's been pretty clear in the market that we've acted for most of the suppliers that are registered wholesale market participants regarding any matter dealing with the Ontario wholesale market.

So, yes, we have acted for individual generators that are part of the NQS generator group on various matters over the years, since 2016 and prior, regarding the wholesale market, regarding their contractual arrangements, and regarding supply-demand needs and whether they should be investing in the province of Ontario.

In addition to those gas-fired generators, we act for renewable generators, we've acted for OPG, we've acted for storage providers.  We've acted for a whole host of entities, as listed on our website.

MR. ZACHER:  So just coming back to my specific question, have you acted for any of the specific Applicants in this proceeding, on the matters that are the subject of this application and your evidence in this proceeding, that is the impact of the MRP amendments on market revenues or contract revenues or both?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yes, we have.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Which Applicants?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  All of them.

MR. ZACHER:  Did Power Advisory, specifically some or all of the three of you, Mr. Chee-Aloy, Mr. Yauch, and Mr. Killeavy, meet with and make presentations to the IESO on behalf of the Applicants, with regards to the MRP-related impacts on the Applicants' market revenues or contract revenues?

MR. VELLONE:  Can you -- why do you keep including contracts if your view is it's out of scope?

MR. ZACHER:  Because Mr. Chee-Aloy has said that the two matters are inseparable, and his expert report, the Power Advisory expert report in this case, addresses both.

MR. VELLONE:  And we've had multiple contested motions and have, I think, a pretty definitive decision from the Panel in this proceeding that they don't agree for the purposes of this review application and that they are looking at market impacts only.  I mean I could be reading different decisions than you are, but that's what I read.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Vellone, my questions aren't about the substance.  They're about the qualifications of your witnesses, which concern both the requisite expertise and requisite independence.

So, Mr. Chee-Aloy, did you or your team meet with the IESO and make presentations to the IESO on matters that are also covered in your independent expert report in this case?

MR. VELLONE:  You can mark our refusal for the record, and we can deal with this at the hearing, when we have Commissioners available.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Mr. Chee-Aloy, your evidence in this case, among other things, states that --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I'm sorry to interrupt you, Mr. Zacher.  I wanted to just note the refusal for the record.  We'll give this JT2.2.  Sorry to interrupt.
UNDERTAKING JT2.2:  (A) NQS GROUP TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE TEAM MET WITH THE IESO AND MAKE PRESENTATIONS TO THE IESO THAT ARE ALSO COVERED IN YOUR INDEPENDENT EXPERT REPORT IN THIS CASE (REFUSED); (B) NQS GROUP TO CONFIRM WHETHER WITNESSES CONTINUE TO BE ENGAGED BY SOME OR ALL OF THE APPLICANTS IN RESPECT OF CONTRACT AMENDMENT NEGOTIATIONS WITH THE IESO (REFUSED)


MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chee-Aloy, the Power Advisory evidence in this case, among other things, opines that the MRP amendments would result in reduced commitment and scheduling of NQS generators.  Is that right?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And that the amendments will result in lower market revenues for NQS generators?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And that the difference between the current and future look-ahead period, combined with three-part offers in pre-dispatch will have a material impact on committing NQS generators?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Did you advocate those same positions or any of them on behalf of the Applicants in earlier dealings with the IESO?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Before I respond to that or don't respond to that, isn't it the same question to which Mr. Vellone --


MR. ZACHER:  I think it's Mr. Vellone's job to decide which questions should be answered, so --


MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Sure.

MR. ZACHER:  -- if he doesn't object, you can answer my question.

MR. VELLONE:  Please feel free to repeat it, Mr. Zacher.  I don't think I caught the whole thing.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chee-Aloy, did you make some or all of those same representations that are made in your expert report, on behalf of some or all of the Applicants, to the IESO in earlier dealings with the IESO on behalf of those Applicants?

MR. VELLONE:  I think the issue is it's too broad, Mr. Zacher.  I think you're asking about contract stuff again, and the same refusal applies.

MR. ZACHER:  No, no.  I'll just back up and ask it again, Mr. Vellone.

Mr. Chee-Aloy, you've agreed that your expert report in this case states that the MRP amendments will result in reduced commitments of NQS generators; correct?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  So let's take that one.  Did you on behalf of the Applicants advocate that same position or make that same position to the IESO in earlier dealings with the IESO on behalf of the Applicants?

MR. VELLONE:  Which part of the IESO, contract management or the market side?

MR. ZACHER:  With the IESO.

MR. VELLONE:  You're not -- you're -- both?  Then the refusal stands.  You're asking about contract issues.  The refusal stands.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Vellone, are you seriously suggesting that your experts can be commercially engaged to advocate a particular position, advocate that position, and then subsequently change hats and make that same position ostensibly as independent experts?

MR. VELLONE:  My understanding is that Power Advisory acts for a wide range of market participants in Ontario, Alberta, and elsewhere in Canada --


MR. ZACHER:  I'm not sure how that changes what the test is for independent expertise, and I'm entitled to test your witnesses on whether they satisfy the criteria for being independent.

MR. VELLONE:  I am happy to have this discussion when there is a panel available to adjudicate.

MR. ZACHER:  We can have an argument before the Panel.  I just want to get the answers to my questions so that we have the evidence necessary to make that argument to the Panel.

MR. VELLONE:  The refusal at the technical conference stands.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chee-Aloy, do you continue to be engaged by some or all of the Applicants?  Your firm, that is.


MR. VELLONE:  Is there a scope to that question?  That's a broad question.

MR. ZACHER:  Do you continue to be engaged by some or all of the Applicants in respect of contract amendment negotiations with the IESO?

MR. VELLONE:  Refused for the same reason.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So this is part of the refusal JT2.2 or a new one?

MR. VELLONE:  Might as well just lump that all together, Ljuba.  Like, it's just going to be one --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, fine.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chee-Aloy, can you look at page 84 of your CV?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yes, I'm on that page.

MR. ZACHER:  And you see the heading, "Generation and Transmission Procurement and Contracting"?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I do.

MR. ZACHER:  Second bullet:
"Acted for multiple gas-fired generators regarding contract amendments resulting from forthcoming Ontario cap and trade system"?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Is there a reason that there is not included a bullet with respect to acting for generators regarding contract amendments resulting from the MRP amendments?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  There is no specific reason other than there are areas to which I gave an example regarding renewal generators out in Alberta that have been omitted here because of recency.  That's the best I can tell you.

MR. ZACHER:  So, your acting for NQS Generators on contract amendment negotiations related to MRP dates back to at least 2021; right?

MR. VELLONE:  Refused.  Can we move on, please?

MR. ZACHER:  Those are all my questions and my colleague, Mr. Duffy, is going to take over.
Examination by Mr. Duffy

MR. DUFFY:  Good morning.  I just want to check that everyone can hear me.  Mr. Yauch, I think I'll primarily be directing my questions to you, but Mr. Killeavy and Mr. Chee-Aloy, please feel free to respond.  So, I'm going to address them to Mr. Yauch.  I just want to make sure you can hear me okay.

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah, I can hear you loud and clear.

MR. DUFFY:  Excellent.  Okay.  I'm going to ask you a few questions about your report and I would like to start on page 9 at paragraph 17.

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  So, at paragraph 17 in the report it states:
"Based on a historical impact analysis, the average negative financial impact to a typical NQS Generator is more than $3.5 million annually or 21 million in total over the 2018 to 2023 timeframe."

That's what it says, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  That's what it says, yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  Yeah, okay.  And just because it doesn't say it specifically, I want to confirm that the figures referenced there are -- they're drawn from Appendix C of your report; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That is correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And the $21 million figure that's referenced here as the total impact, we would find that in figure 22 of Appendix C; correct?  You can take a second to look at it.  We can go to it, too, if that would help.  Page 62.

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah, that's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Yeah, okay.  And the $3.5 million figure is then a yearly average.  It takes the $21 million and it divides it by 6; is that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That is correct, yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And as I understand it, the exercise you did in those appendices was to compare a 2018 to -- sorry, a hypothetical proxy generator from 2018 to 2023, as the rules were, and then you did a comparison based on what it will look like under the Market Renewal Program; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes, if I can provide a little bit of colour on that.  So, yes, it's a proxy generator that uses some standard characteristics that you would see in an NQS generator across Ontario and looked back at how the Market Rules designed today, what type of net margin in terms of revenues versus costs under the current rules, and then when you implement the MRP amendments there are certain changes to the ways that they will be committed, dispatched and settled via guarantee programs and things which I suspect you're going to ask me questions about.  But, when you factor in all those changes, there is an overall reduction to its net margin.  It's not just revenues or costs, but it's actual net margin earned in the wholesale market.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay, yeah.  That's a helpful explanation.  We're going to go through it in quite a bit of detail, Mr. Yauch.  So, we'll have lots of chance to talk about the specifics.  So let's, in paragraph 18 it says:
"The values are based on one 600 MW proxy NQS Generator."

So, we're at paragraph 18, page 9.  Paragraph 18:
"The values above are based on one 600 MW proxy NQS Generator."

And then it goes on to say:
"As such, the market the impact of the MRP Amendments across the entire NQS Generation Group would be more than $140 million over the 6-year timeframe or more than $23 million annually."

And so the six-year timeframe there, Mr. Yauch, that's the 2018 to 2023 period; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And because it's not specifically set out in the report, I just want to confirm what you did to get that figure.  And I think there's two steps.  So, I'm going to walk through it and you just tell me if I have got it right.  So, the first step is -- yes?

MR. YAUCH:  Sorry, go on.

MR. DUFFY:  You took the $21 million figure from paragraph 17.  You divided it by 600 megawatts to get what I would call a per-megawatt impact.  That was step one.  And then in step two you took that figure and you multiplied it by 4,000 which represents the combined megawatt capacity of all the facilities listed in Appendix A and that's what gets us that $140 million figure; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And then what you did is you broke that down again over six years to $23 million annually; right?

MR. YAUCH:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And if we turn next to Appendix A, which is page 57 of the report.  And so, when you refer in the report to NQS Generators and the numbers, it's based on the facilities listed here in Appendix A; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And these are all facilities owned or operated by the Applicants in this proceeding; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  And I summed it up and I've got roughly 4,119 megawatts when I look at the capacity.  And, like I said, you times it by 4,000; so you agree that's an accurate number?

MR. YAUCH:  I'm not going to do math on the stand, but, yeah, I'll take your numbers.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay, sorry.  The extra doesn't really matter one way or the other.  But you would agree with me that this doesn't represent all of the NQS generation facilities in the province of Ontario; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  There are other NQS generators that participate in the wholesale market that are not included in this table.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  And other than the fact that you were retained by these specific Applicants, is there any reason that you picked this subset out of the greater -- out of all of the NQS generation facilities in the province?

MR. YAUCH:  I think your question is the answer itself, is that I was retained to look at it on behalf of a certain number of generators and those were the ones that were considered.

MR. DUFFY:  As part of your analysis.  You didn't look beyond the ones that are listed here; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  I did not consider other generators, no.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And just for my benefit, is there anything unique in the characteristics of the facilities listed in Appendix A that would somehow distinguish them from other NQS generators in the province?

MR. YAUCH:  No.  They -- some of them are on similar contracts that may impact the way in which they operate in the wholesale market or the incentives in which they operate in the wholesale markets.  But at a broad sense, these are representative of other NQS generators that operate across Ontario.  Obviously, every unit is unique sort of the Anna Karenina principle:  They're all unhappy in their own little way so they are all very different, but broadly they're all NQS generators.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  And when you say they're unique, they would have different operating characteristics which, for example, might be reflected in different minimum loading points or what's been --


MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.  Heat rates, MG-BRTs, MLPs, even pseudo unit, non-pseudo unit.  There is a whole bunch of other characteristics that would make them all unique.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And you would expect them to reflect that -- and maybe I'm using too broad of a term, but you would expect them to bid -- sorry, offer differently into the market based on those characteristics; right?

MR. YAUCH:  They would incorporate their physical characteristics into their bid-and-offer strategy.

MR. DUFFY:  Yeah.  Like, they wouldn't all -- for instance, they wouldn't all put the same incremental energy offer in, would they?

MR. YAUCH:  I didn't -- repeat that question a different way?  Because of they wouldn't -- why would two different people put in the same incremental energy offer?

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  Okay.  So if we can turn then to appendix B.  This is your detailed daily settlement example.  And my understanding from just reading the intro paragraph is this is based, the values that are in here -- we'll go through what's actual and what is from the proxy generator -- but the values in here that are actual values are from a particular day, and that is September 12, 2019.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.  And I should highlight that there is nothing special or non-special about this day.  We just wanted to use some actual numbers to highlight what is going on.

MR. DUFFY:  Why pick that date in particular, then?

MR. YAUCH:  You try to pick a day that captured some of the financial impacts that we were talking about.  So I assume we are going to walk through this example, because I have a lot of things to say, particularly in response to what the IESO has tabled.  But it's a day in which a lot of the commitments and financial impacts that we are talking about throughout the report become evident.

So appendix C takes a similar approach, but it does the all-year.  So it strips out any sort of bias, picking one day that is worse or better, and does it on a holistic basis.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  We are going to get to that, because I am looking for clarification on that point.  But let's just slow down and do appendix B, first.

So when I look at figure 18, you have the parameters for a proxy NQS generator that is going to be used in this example.  And I just want to highlight three of them, because I think they come up throughout.

So the first one being installed capacity of 600 megawatts.  So that's the 600-megawatt facility we saw referenced back in paragraph 18.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And then this one has, this proxy facility has a minimum loading point or MLP of 300 megawatts.  That's --


MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And then it says "MBGRT."  I assume that's just a typo.

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah, that's MGBRT.  This is why you are a lawyer and I am not.

MR. DUFFY:  No trouble, we don't care about the typo.  I get it.  So what it should be is -- for the benefit of the transcript, it should be MGBRT.  We use the term, "MGBRT."  And, here, it is a six-hour MGBRT.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah, that's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So then, next, we go to figure 19, which is a daily settlement for this proxy generator.  And I want to make sure we go through each of the columns carefully.

And how I understand I am to use figure 19 is that I am to read figure 19 in connection with paragraph 1 on the page that follows to assess the situation under the current Market Rules.  And then I am to read figure 19 in connection with paragraph 2 on page 60 with respect to what the situation is under MRP.

Do I have that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.  So what figure 19 is doing is using information available today in terms of pricing, and then coming up with how it could be committed and dispatched today, the proxy generator, that is, compared to how it could be committed and dispatched under the MRP amendments.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  Okay.  So let's start with -- I mean, the first column to the left is "HE", which is hour ending.  It represents the hours in a day.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  And then the next one you've got is "PD-3 price", and it's a price per megawatt-hour.  And I understand that what that is is that's the pre-dispatch prices forecasting three hours prior to real-time published by the IESO; is that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.  HOEP is real-time; PD-3 is three hours prior to that.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And did you use the constrained or unconstrained price for that?

MR. YAUCH:  On this example, we can use -- we used the unconstrained.  I  know, for example, the IESO uses it as its shadow prices.  The values in this table are representative.  If you put shadow prices in there, you would get a similar analysis; some days the results would be a little bit different.

But the point of these numbers -- you can put any numbers in there, frankly, in PD-3 or HOEP, and the idea is to show when prices are a certain way, under the current market, you dispatch a certain way, on the future market, you commit it in dispatch, and it is settled in a different way.

So I know there is a lot of focus on whether it is PD-3 and shadow, unconstrained/constrained.  That is in many ways noise to what is actually showing.

MR. DUFFY:  And these are the actual values of PD-3 from September 12, 2019.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And you use it then as a proxy for the DACP, which would be the day-ahead prices.  Is that right?

MR. YAUCH:  We do, but it doesn't actually matter because it would never be committed under the DACP because, according to the IESO's own evidence, the prices were $15 per megawatt lower.  So it would be unlikely to be dispatched.

But we didn't have a current, like, a future look at what DAM prices will look like compared to HOEP.  So we said, okay, DAM prices in the future and real-time prices in the future, there is going to be some difference there.  But what is, today, a reasonable proxy to kind of approximate the difference between those two?  And we used PD-3 as let's consider that a proxy of future DAM prices and HOEP is a proxy of future real-time prices, knowing that those two prices also exist today, if that makes sense.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Yauch, let's not talk about the future, yet.  Let's just talk about today.

You use it as a proxy for DACP, today.  Would you agree with me that historic DACP shadow prices would have been a more representative proxy?

MR. YAUCH:  That's right, but we didn't pick a node for this particular proxy unit.  So, throughout the analysis in the report, we just refer to the sort of unconstrained price, largely because it avoids us having to pick a particular node that this unit would or would not be dispatched at.

So, yes, it would be shadow prices, but you can't get historical shadow prices from the IESO on its website.  So there is that problem, if we didn't have them.

And second, we just think from a -- highlighting the financial impact, it does the same job.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  I note, Mr. Yauch, on the next page, page 59, paragraph 1(a), you note that historic DACP shadow prices are not available beyond one month on the IESO's website; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Did you request those shadow prices from the IESO, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  The last time I requested shadow prices from the IESO, it took about two months for the customer service person to get back to me.  So, based on the retainer, I didn't deem it worthwhile.

MR. DUFFY:  That is because you did this work in November of 2024; is that right, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Yauch, at any point prior to November 2024, did you perform this analysis for the Applicants?

MR. YAUCH:  This particular analysis?  No, it was done -- this was done for this report.

MR. DUFFY:  Did you provide a similar analysis for the Applicants, Mr. Yauch, at any time prior to November 2024?

MR. YAUCH:  We have looked at various impacts of the MRP amendments, both for NQS Generators and various other generators across the province.

MR. DUFFY:  Would it be true, Mr. Yauch, that you performed a similar analysis as early as 2021, and it was provided to the IESO?

MR. VELLONE:  Refused, thanks.

MR. DUFFY:  What's the basis of that refusal, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  You are asking about contract stuff again.  I am happy to deal with this when we have a panel of commissioners.

MR. DUFFY:  Let me be very clear on what my question was, Mr. Vellone:  Mr. Yauch, did you conduct a similar analysis to what is found in this appendix for the Applicants and provide it to the IESO at any time?

MR. VELLONE:  Which part of the IESO?

MR. DUFFY:  Anyone in the IESO, Mr. Yauch.

MR. VELLONE:  Same refusal.  Thanks.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Yauch, if you had performed the analysis in 2021, you would have been able to obtain shadow prices 30 days back at that time.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  For 2024?  This analysis goes to 2023.  So why would I have prices for 2024, when this was -- you are saying it was done in 2021.

MR. DUFFY:  If you did the analysis in 2021, Mr. Yauch, you would have had -- you would have been able to get, from the IESO's website, 30 days of historic shadow prices in 2021.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  If the IESO decided to respond in a certain, reasonable time, you would have shadow prices.  But the analysis in this case doesn't actually require it.  So I don't know why we are talking about what we were doing in 2021 when we are in 2024.

MR. DUFFY:  Did you request such shadow prices from the IESO in 2021, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  We have asked for shadow prices in the past, but I don't know what date that was or wasn't.  I actually don't think it is germane to anything we did for this report.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Yauch.    Next, I want to go back to figure 19, and I want to go to the next column, which is HOEP, or H-O-E-P.  And I just want to be clear, these are the actual values of HOEP for those hours on September 12, 2019 as published by the IESO.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And then the next column is "OR price", and again, that is the actual OR price from September 12.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  And the next one over is the incremental energy offer on a dollar per megawatt-hour, and it is set at $24.08, Mr. Yauch.

MR. YAUCH:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  What is that based upon?

MR. YAUCH:  It is based on the daily spot gas price at that day, for Dawn, converted to Canadian dollars using the Bank of Canada inflation or exchange rate information.  And then, if you look at figure 18, the heat rate, 7.5, we use the gas price and the heat rate and then you add the O&M costs, which is also in figure 18, to get to sort of a proxy incremental energy offer.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay, excellent.  Okay.  Now, next, Mr. Yauch, I would like to go over a few columns because this is how I was able to follow it.  If we go to the column second from the right which is called "energy market profit" --


MR. YAUCH:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  -- that figure is in there, and so what I take these figures to be is, for each of the hours where a number is shown, where there has been a dispatch, it's HOEP minus the offer times 300; is that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And the reason it is -- well, let me maybe just go through:  Why is it HOEP minus the offer?

MR. YAUCH:  Well, when you're settled as an NQS generator or any market participant, it's your outputs times the energy market price, HOEP in this case.  So, if you look at hour ending five, HOEP was negative minus 150, so you end up doing the calculation, and there is sort of a net loss in this case.  That's why it's red or negative, because it's beyond -- it's not earning enough energy market revenue to offset its costs, so that is the difference there, represented in that column.

MR. DUFFY:  Right, because the generator is assumed here to be offering at its marginal cost; correct, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay, and then times by 300, I assume that is then connected to the "300" we see in the middle column, "RT-GCG commitment"; is that right?

MR. YAUCH:  Just RT-GCG, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And then I notice some of the columns are red, so those would be hours in which it wasn't economic for the generator to run.  You use the term -- and you put it in quotes in 1(b) on the next page -- that they were "constrained on" during those hours.  Do you want to just explain to me what you mean by "constrained on" and why you put it in quotes?

MR. YAUCH:  So, as part of the Real-Time GCG program, it's an invoked commitment, so you self-commit yourself.  So what the NQS generator would have done on this day, in this analysis, is it would look at PD-3 prices, and, in three of those hours over a six-hour MGBRT, it's economic, i.e., the PD-3 price is higher than its marginal cost, so it would self-invoke the Real-Time GCG.  And then the IESO -- it calls the control room, and then the IESO constrains it on.

So, when you see the Real-Time GCG commitment megawatt-hours, that column, those 300 megawatts are the hours in which it is assumed to have self-imposed the Real-Time GCG program.  It then has to be contained on because it would not be economically committed in quite a few of those hours, so then it is running 300 megawatts for each one of those 6 hours as part of its MGBRT, Minimum Generation Block Run-Time.  I know it's going to be an acronym here, but I'll just stick with "MGBRT," and then we will go from there.

MR. DUFFY:  Right, and we will add one more, Mr. Yauch.  In the column "energy market profit," where it's shown in red, the figures are shown in red indicating a loss, if we look back three columns to the one headed "CMSC revenue," we see that where the generator has lost any of those hours, it has been made whole by the CMSC payment; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.  I don't know, constrained/ unconstrained schedule, but essentially what is happening is the CMSC is making it whole financially to its schedule based on the market revenues from the unconstrained schedule.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  Okay.  Now, I want to focus in on the "RT-GCG commitment" column.

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And so, in this case, the generator is dispatched between hours 5 and 10 at 300 megawatts.  And I've got you saying, at paragraph 1(d) on page 59, that the amount of the guarantee in those hours is $18,433; is that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  And for my benefit, the way you calculated that number is that you took -- if we go over two columns, three columns, to "start-up costs," you took the start-up cost of $18,860, and then you minused the energy market profit, which was $427 made during those 5 hours, and that's how you get the $18,433; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  If we look down to the hours 15 through to 20, you calculated the RT-GCG payment in those hours as $17,247.  And, if we did the same exercise, that's the $18,860 start-up costs minus the energy market profit, if we added up figures found in the "energy market profit" column over those hours; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And you'll agree with me that a generator is not intended to profit from the RT-GCG commitment program; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  I don't agree with that.

MR. DUFFY:  You don't agree with that.  It's intended to cover the costs of the generator; is that correct, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  It's intended to cover the costs of start-ups based on a particular envelope that is the MLP for its MGBRT.  I know, again, that's a serious acronym salad.  But, up to 300 megawatts for six hours --


MR. DUFFY:  Yes?

MR. YAUCH:  -- the IESO rules, Market Rules and Market Manuals, never say:  It shall not earn a profit on that.

I know this was asked yesterday.  That does not exist.  This program has been in place for 20 years.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.

MR. YAUCH:  The IESO has then multiple reviews on it.  The MSP has commented on it, I think, over a dozen times.  It has been well known that in many cases the way that the costs are calculated against the revenues can result in compensation that's beyond the start-up costs.  So this idea that "not intended to," even though it may happen and has been known to happen for 20 years, needs to be very clearly understood of what's happening.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Maybe, rather than getting into a higher-level debate, Mr. Yauch, in this particular example, the payment here is just to cover the start-up costs; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  It is to cover the costs related to starting up that unit and running from its MGBRT to its MLP.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  So its costs were $18,860 minus the profit it made, and the remainder, the uncovered cost, it gets through the RT-GCG commitment --


MR. YAUCH:  Its costs were beyond $18,000 because it has to include the marginal costs of energy up to its MLP.  So, no, that's not -- you're not actually portraying all the costs that are captured in the Real-Time GCG.

MR. DUFFY:  Where do I see that in your table on figure 19?

MR. YAUCH:  Well, you see the incremental energy offer has to recover those costs, so the CMSC revenues, energy market profits, those have to be recovered, as well.  So either it is made whole through the CMSC or it is made whole through the Real-Time GCG.  In any case, it is the total bucket of costs of its MLP, including incremental energy, start-up, speed-no-load, all of the things that we have talked about, for its MGBRT up to its MLP.

MR. DUFFY:  Those don't appear in figure 19 --


MR. YAUCH:  All those values are there.

MR. DUFFY:  -- right?

MR. YAUCH:  No, all those values are there.

MR. DUFFY:  Where?  Where?

MR. YAUCH:  I mean I just walked through it.  There is the incremental energy offer.  There is the MLP.  There is the MGBRT.  I don't know what else is required, frankly.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Next, I want to move to the column that says "potential OR revenue," Mr. Yauch.

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And so, if I understand the example correctly, this is the capacity -- because the unit has a 600-megawatt capacity.  300 is being covered by the RT-GCG commitment, so it has 300 additional capacity, which in this case it can use to supply OR.  Do I have that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That is correct, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And so what we see in the "potential OR revenue" column is, if we were to go back a few columns to the "OR price" column, it's the OR price times 300; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So it is because it is the 300 megawatts of OR that it is offering at the OR price, so it has made -- and the number you gave in paragraph 1(d) is that it has earned $5,229 in OR revenues.

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  And would you agree with me that the only reason the proxy generator is in a position here to provide OR is because it is getting the RT-GCG commitment?

MR. YAUCH:  I don't agree with that.  A unit can be required for OR purposes.  It may actually have been required for OR at this time, and it was used in the Real-Time GCG to be constrained on.  There can be all sorts of reasons, but, in this case, the assumption is it has self-invoked the GCG, so, once it is online, it would economically look for ways to extract all the revenues it can.  So it would do -- one of the ways in which it would do that is the OR market.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  Mr. Yauch, just limiting it to the proxy example, though, this proxy generator, absent that RT-GCG commitment payment, would not be online to provide OR in the scenario shown in figure 19; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  It could be constrained on.  There is an outcome in which it does.  I don't know whether there is millions of things that happen every single hour.  In this case we assume it's the GCG, but there could be other examples when it's other reasons.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  But, in this example, it is only available because of the RT-GCG commitment; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  This example is related to the Real-Time GCG commitment, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  Because the generator wouldn't be incurring $18,000 plus in startup costs twice to earn OR revenue a little over $5000; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Well, it depends.  Because it is also getting deemed, I know you probably don't want to talk about that part of it.  But there is this other risk that it has to face, too.  So, there's chances when it may try to come online to offset that potential financial risk.

MR. DUFFY:  And, Mr. Yauch, when you say "deemed," that would be the last column show non figure 19 --


MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  And that has to do with the calculation under the contract; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you.  Okay.  So, now that we've talked about figure 19 in the context of the current world that existed between 2018 and 2023, I want to talk about figure 19 now.  Now we're going to talk about it in the MRP world where the amendments are in -- the hypothetical world in which the MRP amendments were in effect between 2018 and 2023; you follow me on that, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  I do, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And that's what's covered in paragraph 2 on page 60 of your report; right?  These are -- that's what we're talking about there; right?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So, in this situation you note that:
"Commitment in the DAM, so based on the 24-optimization and the three-part offers, the NQS Generator is likely not committed in the DAM, as the IAM, energy market and OR revenues are significantly below its offered costs."

Now, Mr. Yauch, in paragraph 1(a) you had made the conclusion that the generator was unlikely to committed in DACP, the current version.  And now you are concluding that it will not be committed in DAM.  So, you agree there is no change here between 1(a) and 2(a); is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  It would be unlikely to be committed DACP and be unlikely to be committed in DAM, yes.  There are significant differences between those two markets that I would like to talk about at some point, but for your purposes, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Yes.  So, now if we go to 2(b), Mr. Yauch, your conclusion here is that "Under the MRP amendments --" and we'll just go to the -- you can just read the last sentence there:
"Similarly to the DAM, the as-offered costs are significantly greater than potential IAM revenue and OR revenues, and the unit is largely uneconomic through the day."

So, it's not going to get committed in pre-dispatch is your conclusion; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.  And the reason we say that is that with the broader cost envelope commitment, if you take the assumption that the market will be more efficient and only commit units when it's needed based on an economic basis that if the total cost to committed are greater than what it's needed to provide, then it would be committed.  Now, there could be times when things are committed for reliability reasons, and so on and so forth, that basically strip out the idea of economic dispatch, but in this case we're only focusing on economic dispatch.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So, this is a change between 1(b) and 2(b), right?  So, because in your example, the generator was dispatched -- well, you may correct me if I use the wrong term.  But it was dispatched because of a commitment in pre-dispatch, whereas here it won't be; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  In the current markets, it relies on a commitment program that focuses on incremental energy offers only in order to commit and dispatch it.  So, the coast envelope is significantly less, therefore it can rely on that design of that program that focuses on the incremental energy costs only to get itself committed.  Whereas in the future when you're having the three-part offers and the broad across envelope it, in our assumption, economically limits its ability to get itself committed dispatch, barring reliability and other sort of constraints like that.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  Because now it has to compete on a total cost and not just incremental costs; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And you agree with me that while this generator didn't get dispatched and pre-dispatched, another resource would have had to be dispatched to replace the proxy generator; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  I don't know if that's true, to be honest.  I mean, another resource could have.  There is a chance much more likely that a resource that doesn't have start-up costs, such as an import or storage or opportunity cost hydro, would take this advantage to adjust its energy offers to get itself dispatched before the three-part offers would kick in and the cost envelope associated with that.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Yauch, you're getting ahead of me.  Some other resource would have to be dispatched in this case, some resource of some form or other; right?

MR. YAUCH:  Sorry, there was coughing.  I didn't hear that.

MR. DUFFY:  Apologies.  Some -- you're getting ahead of me a little bit.  Some resource would have to be dispatched in place of this?

MR. YAUCH:  Ostensibly if the energy is needed, yes, something would have to come in there at some point.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  The question then becomes, would that be another NQS resource, and you said you don't know; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  There is uncertainty around it.  So, there is a chance it's another NQS generator that offers in a way in which it's economic.  There is a chance that it's the many resources that compete against NQS generators.  There was a lot of talk yesterday that there is no one else, but there is a significant amount of opportunity cost.  Hydro, imports and future storage that does play in exactly this place because gas is the marginal unit to many hours.  So they would be targeting these sorts of hours to get their energy on the system ahead of an NQS generator.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Yauch, let's not worry about what was discussed yesterday.  Let's just focus on your example.  So, you did a specific day, September 12, 2019.  Did you do the exercise of figuring out what the other resource would have been on that day in those hours?

MR. YAUCH:  No, that would require an entire rerun of the whole system and have to adjust everyone's energy offers knowing what is now being changed in the calculation engine.  So, no, we didn't do that.  And there would be -- the questions we're having now and the assumptions that I'm using would be 20-fold.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  So you don't know the answer.  The response is you don't know; right?

MR. YAUCH:  In a way the answer is almost impossible to pin down without me laying out a million different assumptions for how everything else would be offered in the market.  So, this is the assumption that how this proxy generator gets committed in dispatch.  How everyone else responds to an updated Market Rules includes different cost envelope, opens a whole door to how others resources respond to updated market design.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Yauch, in your report you didn't identify the difficulty with that task, you didn't identify what data would be needed and you didn't identify how difficult it would be; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  No, but I sort of think it's self-evident.  I don't understand, who would run a dispatch model is -- knows how complicated it is and the assumptions that go into it.

MR. DUFFY:  Did you consider the possibility, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  We've thought about it, but we recognize that going back and running the entire system without everyone's energy offers is borderline impossible.  Partly because the IESO, unlike almost every other system operator in the world, doesn't publish bid and offer data.  So, it is not possible for someone who doesn't work within the IESO to do that type of analysis, unlike every other market that exists in the world that does publish that data.  So, the IESO itself makes it almost impossible for someone to do a holistic analysis on it.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Yauch, would you agree with me this is an important point to the analysis of figuring the overall impact on NQS Generators?

MR. YAUCH:  It's a point to consider, certainly.

MR. DUFFY:  So it's not important if some other NQS generator got the commitment instead?

MR. YAUCH:  Under this line of questioning you either get this example where I prove it or I can't prove it.  But if I can't prove it that also means the IESO can't prove that it is just -- it's within that class and no one is impacted by it.  So we would be at a standstill on who can come up with a better assumption to get the outcome they want.

MR. DUFFY:  So, Mr. Yauch, you considered it.  I think you agree that it's somewhat important but it's not noted anywhere in your report; is that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct, yeah.  It's not specifically --


MR. DUFFY:  You didn't think, Mr. Yauch, that this was a point that the Panel should be illuminated upon; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That it's hard to rerun the entire system and change bids and offers by over a couple hundred different market participants?  I mean, I guess I can state that now that that is hard.

MR. DUFFY:  No, no.  The point, Mr. Yauch, is the possibility that one NQS generator could lose the commitment but another NQS generator could take it in its place; that's not something you noted in your report?

MR. YAUCH:  We're clear that this impacts the proxy generator, but it can also impact other proxy generators or any other NQS generators, it could impact other hydro resources.  We talked many times about how hydro and storage imports can potentially play in this same space.  So, I think it is clear that there are a variety of units that could or could not be impacted by a change such as this.

MR. DUFFY:  So next, Mr. Yauch, while we're on page 60, lets go to 2(d) and I think there is actually two components to your conclusions in 2(d).  So, the first part reads: "There is no settlement to account for".  And so, what you mean by that is because this unit, this proxy, didn't get committed in DAM, didn't get committed in pre-dispatch, it doesn't get dispatched at all; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And we will come to the consequences of that in a minute.  But then it goes on to say:
"If, for example, the NQS Generator was committed for the second start of the day..."

So this is the one beginning in hour ending 15.

MR. YAUCH:  At 15, yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  So that is a different scenario, because it has been dispatched.  But there are two different scenarios you are talking about here, right, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.  So this segment, we are just highlighting the impact of the change of the revenue calculation for the guarantee payment.  So, in the future, it includes OR revenues, whereas currently it doesn't.  So, just highlighting that potential financial impact.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  So if for some reason it got committed in that second start, now it's RT-GCG payment, which we --


MR. YAUCH:  GOG.  Sorry, the future is the real-time GOG.  I know -- I don't want to do this to you, but it's another acronym.  But there you go.

MR. DUFFY:  That's fine.  I have no problem with that.  It's hard to keep them all straight, I appreciate that.

Previously, you have calculated the payment for those hours at $17,247.  And what I read -- what you are saying here is that payment would now be less, by $4,908.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  At a minimum, yes.  I can explain that but, yes, at a minimum.

MR. DUFFY:  Because that $4,908, that represents the OR revenue earned during those hours, if we would look back to figure 19.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah, the potential; we are clear that is potential OR revenue.  Yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  But, in your example -- right.  In your example, it was OR revenue.  Right?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Right.  So now, because the generator had costed $18,860, it gets a reduced commitment payment to take account for the fact that it has earned revenue from OR.  Right?

MR. YAUCH:  Potentially, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Because that revenue is available to cover its costs.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's revenue and the real-time GOG -- I guess, apologies, but real-time generator offer guarantee, for the transcript -- that is revenue that is now included in that calculation, like the bucket of costs that go against the guarantee payment -- the bucket of revenues, sorry.  My apologies.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So next go to 2(e).  And you also note market power mitigation; there is changes to market power mitigation.  And I just want to make sure:  there is no impact of market power mitigation either, under the current regime --


MR. YAUCH:  No.  No, no.

MR. DUFFY:  Sorry -- let me slow down.

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah, yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  In your example -- I am not going to talk more broadly about the market but, in your example, this plays no role.  Right?

MR. YAUCH:  In this example, we don't calculate any financial impact of market power mitigation.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  You haven't quantified that impact for this example.  Right?

MR. YAUCH:  No.  And frankly, the reason is that there are a lot of unknowns to how it is actually going to happen and it occurs.  So it is a financial risk; it is a potential financial outcome, but we don't put a hard number on that.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  Mr. Yauch, would it be possible for you to identify the amount of money that the NQS Generation Group facilities made from exercising market power that wasn't caught by the ex-post market power generation regime, but will be caught, you think, by the ex-ante market power mitigation regime?

MR. YAUCH:  No, no, because that would require all the reference levels and everything else that goes with it.  Also, like, you would -- these prices don't have that market power mitigation framework on it, so I would have to make an assumption on what people would or would not have done if that was in place or not in place.

MR. DUFFY:  But, Mr. Yauch, the principle, you would agree with me that there are situations where the Applicants now in your case are exercising market power today that they can get away with that they won't be able to get away with in the future?

MR. YAUCH:  I disagree with that.  I think today they are given a certain amount of flexibility in terms of some of their offers and strategies.  For example, there are pre-approved costs for Real-Time GCG today, but they are not pre-approved costs for day-ahead, DA-PCG -- again, sorry, acronym, DA-PCG -- that in the future will be.

I know we don't want to talk about contracts, but the contracts incent them to offer certain a way for incremental energy, and it is at the marginal cost.  So in many cases, in terms of incremental energy, they are not actually incented to push prices higher.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  But you have no view on what that amount might be.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  No.

MR. DUFFY:  You don't think that's something -- if I asked you to make an undertaking, do you think that's something you would be able to do, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  No.  We would have to have a long discussion on what that means and how we are going do it.  Maybe we could take it offline, but I don't right now I would agree to that, given the magnitude of what it is or isn't.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  But I just want to say this:  I think it is fair to say the IESO has even admitted this based on the decisions that they made resulting from deliberations within the technical panel to delay many aspects of their application of market power mitigation, post-MRP launch in May.

MR. DUFFY:  All right.  Mr. Yauch, next question:  We are going to turn to page 61.  And I want to really hone in on paragraph 4, and the subparagraphs under 4, because this is where you say, "Here are the total financial impacts from MRP in this example."

So the total financial impact to the NQS generator amounts to the two less commitments in the PD calculation engine.  So those are the two that we saw in figure 19.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And then (ii) is:

"The loss of potential OR revenues for OR programs in the two commitments invoked under the RT-GCG program."

So, because they got the commitment in the current market in, you know, in the current world of 2019, they got that.  In the future, because they won't get the RT-GCG commitment, they won't be available to provide OR.  Is that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That is correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And then (iii), I think it is a slight distinction.  So this goes back to the point we were talking about earlier with respect to 2(d), on page 60, if the commitments were to occur.  So despite what you have said in (i) or (ii), if for some reason a commitment were to occur under MRP, then the commitment would be calculated such to include OR revenues and reduce the payment; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And then point (iv) is the ex-ante/ex-post comparison, which we have just talked about for market power mitigation.  And again, you have said that is something you can't quantify.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  It would be challenging, given all the uncertainty around it, reference levels having been set, for example.  So, I mean, there is that challenge alone.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  So you didn't attempt to do that, did you?

MR. YAUCH:  No.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  You didn't explain that either in your report, did you?

MR. YAUCH:  No.  Well, we are explaining it now.  Right?

MR. DUFFY:  If I go to the next one, it is (v) and that's:
"A misalignment between the 'deeming' mechanism included in the contracts with the IESO and the actual commitment and dispatch..."

So that's got to do with the contracts.  Correct, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So we need not be worried about that.  Okay.

So next, I want to go down to figure 20, where you set out the daily financial impact.  So if I look at the first one, it is the RT-GCG payment No. 1.  So that is for the hours, 5:00 to 10:00.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  And so that was the $18,433 we talked about for those hours for the RT-GCG commitment.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Correct, yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And so, and we looked at earlier, that was calculated to cover the start-up costs in your figure 19 of $18,860 minus the $427 made in the energy market.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Assuming the CMSC has offset the losses, too.  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So, on a gross basis, obviously that payment is not being made now under MRP.  But you would agree with me, on a net basis in your example as shown in figure 19 the generator is indifferent?

MR. YAUCH:  I don't think it's indifferent.  Like, in terms of the current market and the future market?

MR. DUFFY:  Let me be more specific:  Financially indifferent, in the sense that it is put back into the same position, net.  You spoke of net margin at the outset.  Its net margin is the same in both situations.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's not correct, because there are assumptions I do not make in that table that I think we should walk through a little bit.  If you go back to --


MR. DUFFY:  No.  Mr. Yauch, let's be very -- Mr. Yauch, hold on.  Let's just make sure we get this right.

So, in your hypothetical world, the generator does not incur those start-up costs, the $18,860 that you show in figure 19.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  It does or does not?

MR. DUFFY:  It does not.  It never got started.  It doesn't incur those costs.

MR. YAUCH:  In the future world, it does not include -- yes, it does incur those costs in the future world.  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  So it didn't incur the costs and it didn't get the commitment payment, and so it is revenue neutral.

MR. YAUCH:  In the future, it's revenue neutral.  But today it is not.  And if you allow me to explain, if we go back at page 58, we can walk through how its net margins could be decreased, and how this is actually captured in the analysis.  Not in this example but, in appendix C, we take this analysis to its rightful conclusion to get through that margin, I think, questions you are getting at.  So, if we can go to 58, that would be useful, and I can explain it -- unless you don't want to hear the explanation, but I'm happy to walk through why this is a financial impact.

MR. DUFFY:  Nope.  I'm not interested, Mr. Yauch because, when I look at figure 19, you have identified the start-up costs as $18,860; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Right, and those will not be incurred if the unit is not dispatched; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Those will not be incurred if the unit is not dispatched.  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay, so if we look --

MR. YAUCH:  [Audio dropout] --

MR. DUFFY:  -- [audio dropout] figure 20, the second column, RT-GCG payment No. 2, the $17,247, that is for the hours 15 through to 20; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And, once again, for those hours there is -- the generator didn't get dispatched under MRP, under your MRP scenario; therefore, it didn't incur the start-up costs of $18,860; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  It did not incur the start-up costs, but it also did not incur the profit that is associated with the OR revenue or potential profit, so that needs to be considered, that there is a net margin earned today, when it gets dispatched, via its OR revenues.  And any energy beyond its MLP, if it gets that instead of OR, that is captured today, that improves its net margin is not captured in the future.  So the gross versus net issue is very important to understand.

MR. DUFFY:  So just hold on.  You spoke about operating above MLP and beyond MGBRT, but, in this example in appendix B, there is no revenue from operating beyond MLP, above MLP or beyond MGBRT other than OR; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  In hour ending 15, if you go to the table and figure 19 and page 58, there is potential OR revenue, so that is revenue that it could earn.  Assuming its OR costs are not the exact same as that revenue, that is net margin that it earns.  Additionally, if you look at --

MR. DUFFY:  Sorry, Mr. Yauch, where is that shown?

MR. YAUCH:  Column "potential OR revenue."  That is potential net margin improvements that is able to achieve today, that is not able to achieve in the future because it is not committed in dispatch.

MR. DUFFY:  Right, but --

MR. YAUCH:  That is the potential profit opportunity that is lost via not getting the commitment in this example.

MR. DUFFY:  [Audio dropout].

MR. YAUCH:  In this example.  It could be other ways, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Ms. Djurdjevic, sorry.  I saw your note.  We will be about two minutes, and then we can take a natural break.

So, but other than the OR revenue, which, if we go back to figure 20, you've helpfully, Mr. Yauch -- the OR revenue is shown in figure 20, correct, the $5,429?

MR. YAUCH:  That is potential net margin that it could earn today and that it will not earn in the future.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.

MR. YAUCH:  That is one example.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  In your example, that's the only revenue outside of RT-GCG payments that it's losing in your example?

MR. YAUCH:  No, the -- well, the other way to look at it, too, is that, if you look at, say, hour 15 to hour 20, instead of getting OR revenues, in the hours where it would be economically "in merit," as we say, it's incremental energies below HOEP, so OR revenue 17, when the price is $2,605 --

MR. DUFFY:  Yes.

MR. YAUCH:  -- conceivably it could be dispatched to its full output, 600 megawatts, because it's economically in merit.  In those hours, it would also earn economic rents for dispatch from 300 to 600.  So that is the potential that it got itself online in hours, that it maybe would not have been dispatched on a three-part offer basis as in the future, but it now has itself online and the hours when it is in merit, even though they are less than its total MGBRT, it can actually extract maximum economic rents now that it's online.

And, again, that is a lost op -- a reduction in the potential net-margin opportunity that it doesn't experience today or won't experience in the future, that it experiences today.

MR. DUFFY:  Right, and that's because, in the future under MRP, revenues above MLP and beyond MGBRT will be taken into account to reduce the GOG payment; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Correct, correct, correct.

MR. DUFFY:  All right.  I think that's a natural place for a break.  We won't have much longer.  I don't know, Ms. Djurdjevic, if you want to take 15 minutes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Let's do that and come back at 11:20.  Thank you, everyone.
--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:20 a.m.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Let's resume with Mr. Duffy's questioning.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you, Ms. Djurdjevic.  We won't be too much longer.

Mr. Yauch, before we broke, you said that there are revenue opportunities that are available to generators in the current market so they won't be able to get under the MRP amendments.

MR. YAUCH:  To be clear, I think I said net margin opportunities, so I just want to make that distinction.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay, understood.  And I just want to make sure we get what all of those opportunities are.  So the one in your example is OR revenue.  So that would be one of these opportunities; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Another one would be operating above the minimum loading point; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  On an energy basis, correct, yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Another one would be operating beyond MG-BRT; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah, you're in the acronym salad here, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Are there any others?  Did I miss any?  Are there any other ones you want to identify for us?

MR. YAUCH:  Those are the ones that we highlight in our report.  Now, there is the whole deemed -- to try to avoid some of the deemed impact from the contracts, we don't need to go into it, but that is also something to consider, but we can park it for now.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay, excellent.  I just want to make sure we have that.  Okay.  So, Mr. Yauch, I just want to finish up by turning to Appendix C the of your report, which is page 62.  Can you get up that on the screen?  Just the next page, please.

So, Mr. Yauch, my understanding is that Appendix B, which we've been through, was a single day for that proxy generator September 12, 2019.  And Appendix C you do the same exercise, but now you've done it over a six-year period from 2018 to 2023; have I got that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And when I -- you calculated in Appendix B a $40,000/day loss.  When I look at Appendix C, I don't think you just extrapolated that over six years; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  No, this is done on an hourly basis.

MR. DUFFY:  If we were to go back to figure 19 where we identified columns of actual data, what you've done is you've substituted the actual data for, what, every hour, every day between 2018 and 2023?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  And then -- okay.  And what did you use then for your incremental energy offer that we saw in figure 19?  What did you use -- because it's not an actual figure.  What did you use here for Appendix C?

MR. YAUCH:  It's basically the daily gas price.  I think I said earlier, but just for clarity.  It's the dawn daily gas price converted to Canadian dollars, CAD, based on the Bank of Canada exchange rate for that day.  So that's the primary input and then $0.50 additional ONM offer so that you convert the gas prices and the heat rate, I think they're laid out here, you convert those to incremental energy offer for the day, each dat.  So it will fluctuate depending on the gas prices settling.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So you didn't just take the $24.08 incremental offer and figure --


MR. YAUCH:  No, no, no.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  So that figure fluctuates up and down each day; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.  And it aligns with how market prices are set; right?  Gas units are typically the price in a unit.  So, you want to incorporate gas costs in terms of how pricing or else you would have a disconnect that would be nonsensical.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And that would then be the basis for the figures we see in figure 22 for the annual financial impact; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  But you don't disclose the numbers that you used for the incremental energy offer or even actually the methodology that you used over that six-year period anywhere in the report; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  I don't know if we described in Appendix B how we convert to incremental energy offers.  But, no, I'm happy to do an undertaking to describe how we came up with the incremental energy offer if it's useful.  I can describe it on the record now.  It's the same thing, but I'm happy to do an undertaking to describe it if you like.

MR. DUFFY:  So, let's move on to figure 22, Mr. Yauch.

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  So this then sums up the daily loss over that six-year period and then the result is a $21 million that we saw set out in paragraph 17 of the report; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  I would not describe it as a daily loss because there are some days when it is not operating as a loss when it can still invoke the GCG economically but then earn the additional revenues that you described earlier, you know, operating above its MLP, beyond its MG-BRT.  So I would not describe this as a calculation of daily losses over six years.

MR. DUFFY:  Oh, I see.  So, they didn't lose every commitment every day over six years?

MR. YAUCH:  No.  There's days, many days, that even though you invoke the Real-Time GCG you are economic on a, let's say, total-cost basis, but then the way the GCG program is designed there are -- the revenue and potential margin opportunities available to you.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.

MR. YAUCH:  That aren't there in the future market in some cases.

MR. DUFFY:  And you didn't specify here how many, what percentage of commitments would be lost; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  No.  We -- on figure 23 we describe to the client number of run hours and the idea is, you know, run hours would go down.  So therefore it is representative of less dispatch.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And then what you did, as we saw at the outset, is you extrapolated that $21 million over the full NQS Generator group fleet to get the $140 million; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  So, an assumption built into that, you will agree with me, Mr. Yauch, is that in every situation in which an NQS Generator in the group did not receive a commitment, the assumption is that some other generator in the group didn't take that commitment; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  The assumption as it's met by someone else; right?  That if this unit is not online, some other suppliers come in.  It doesn't mean it is an NQS generator.  There is a lot of resources, contrary to what the IESO says, that participates in this space in terms of incremental energy that could adjust its offers to take its place.  So it's not just NQS generators.  There's other participants in that space.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  But if we're looking at the NQS Generators, the Applicant group as a whole and you've  extrapolated this financial impact over all of them, if one of them loses a commitment in the future world but another one takes its place, you've assumed that that never happens; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  No, no.  That can happen at times and there will be other times in which one NQS Generator does not get committed due to market design changes and some other resource other than NQS generators steps in and fills that void.  And I know I keep on highlighting it, hydro, imports, and future storage all target NQS generators as a resource to compete against.  And, in fact, for years we had a deal with Hydro Quebec where it particularly was required to offer right at the marginal cost of gas and it was incented to participate and compete against it.  So it's not just NQS, NQS, it's NQS versus NQS and all the other resource types that participate in that space.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Yauch, where in your analysis do you take into account the possibility that another NQS resource in the group has taken that commitment?  Where does that --


MR. YAUCH:  We don't.  We assume that the market is competitive so we're not going to assume how competition would play out, but I will highlight that our annual number, around $23 million, compare that to the IESO's number on a historical back half which was around $190 million over 10 years, $19 million, we are almost at the exact same number in terms of the impact on this group.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Yauch, I'm going to put it to you that in your analysis the fundamental assumption is that when one of the NQS generators in the NQS Generator Group loses a commitment, it is not picked up by another NQS Generator in the group; isn't that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  No.  I'm sorry, it's not.  The assumption is that some other market participant will take that offer or take that space and try to compete.  That could be an NQS Generator.  That could not be an NQS Generator.  But the fact of the matter is that the proxy generator has its commitment reduced overall, its net margins decrease.  Whether that is offset by other NQS generators, that is one possibility, that is certainly not the only possibility.  And given the competition amongst resources in this incremental energy space we think it is likely that there are many other resources that would be try to take that space.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Yauch, show me where in your math you took some account of this, did some percentage calculation how often it would be another NQS Generator and took that into account in reaching your final number.  Show me where that is.

MR. YAUCH:  We don't mathematically come to a conclusion on how competition will play out.  So we assume that the competition will happen as it happens in a competitive market.  Whether that is within NQS Generators, that's one outcome potential.  But it is more likely that given the competition is amongst many generators on every single hour, every five-minute dispatch, that it will be spread amongst a variety of resource classes.

MR. DUFFY:  So, Mr. Yauch, that means that the math -- in the math that you have done, it never happens.  It doesn't even happen once, that one NQS generator replaces another one; isn't that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That could be one outcome.  The other outcomes could be it happens every single time.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Yauch, I didn't ask you about outcomes.  I asked you, in your math, you did not account for that possibility.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  I believe the way you are framing it as there is a mathematical way to calculate how competition would occur is not -- I mean, I won't even say it is reasonable.  It is totally unreasonable, because we don't know how people will respond to this.  But we do know that the market is competitive and that resources will respond to some extent.

And so when certain resources are impacted one way, other resources are going to react to that.  And if they can benefit, economically, they will.  So whether that is other NQS generators, that's one outcome; whether that's other resource types, that is another outcome.  But they are both real.

MR. DUFFY:  So, Mr. Yauch, I appreciate the math is tricky, and it would be speculative.  The math may be not tricky, sorry, the exercise may be speculative.

Did you describe this in any qualitative way in your evidence?

MR. YAUCH:  We don't lay out exactly what we are describing, the challenges around mathematically calculating competitive outcomes.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Yauch, let me put it another way:  Did you flag in your report for the panel that when you did the $140 million figure, it had this giant assumption in it that one NQS generator would never be dispatched in place of another one that lost its commitment?  You didn't do that, Mr. Yauch, did you?

MR. YAUCH:  The assumption underlying our analysis, and I believe the assumption underlying the IESO's analysis may be something similar, is that the market is competitive.  So this is an outcome for a proxy generator and a class of generators that would be impacted in this way.  Whether that outcome will differ based on competitive outcomes is a reality.  I am not denying that; I don't think anyone would deny that.

But the reality is that competition will happen amongst resources, not amongst one resource class only.

MR. DUFFY:  Fair.  But you would agree that, let's just pick some percentage.  And I will give you the benefit of the doubt, Mr. Yauch.  Let's say it only happens 25 percent of the time.  You would agree with me, that would have a big impact on your $140 million figure.  Right?

MR. YAUCH:  I am sorry, Mr. Duffy, I appreciate your questioning the assumptions, but I am not going to take your numbers as any way based on any expert analysis or expertise on this.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.

MR. YAUCH:  I don't mean that.  It is a pushback, but I am just saying that that -- I am not taking your numbers as reasonable.

MR. DUFFY:  What number would be reasonable, Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  We don't know.  We don't know how we are going to calculate a competitive outcome.  So, like, here is a range, here is one interpretation on how this would play out.  Clearly, you think, and I think the IESO believes in its response, that this is totally going to be borne on an intra-class basis to NQS generators only.

I think we take disagreement with that.  And I think we can go to many different Market Surveillance Panel reports that talk about the state of the market.  On an incremental energy basis and a short-term spot market basis, the market is competitive.  And so we think other resources will operate in this space, and it is not just going to be an NQS generator class, only.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  And it makes it even more difficult because the IESO has introduced optional parameters for qualified hydroelectric generators to better ensure more guarantee of their schedule and production of energy and OR even more difficult to figure out.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Mr. Yauch, let's finish on this point:  The math doesn't account for it happening one percent of the time, 5 percent of the time, 10 percent of the time.  The math assumes, the math you have done, assumes it happens never; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That what happens never?

MR. DUFFY:  That one NQS generator in the group is replaced by another one when it loses a commitment?

MR. YAUCH:  The math accounts for a proxy generator, and that's extrapolated to account for the -- the class is sort of represented as the proxy generator.  Yes.  The outcome shows, the math shows that when it loses its commitment, it is taken by something else.  And what that is could be another NQS generator or it could be someone else, but it will likely be somewhere in that space because it is a competitive market.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  And in your math, you didn't take into account the positive impact that the other NQS generator would have from getting that commitment; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That there is a potential that some NQS generators take commitments from others?  Certainly.  It's a competitive outcome; they are going to compete each other, just like everyone else.

MR. DUFFY:  Is it a reasonable assumption, Mr. Yauch, that that would happen zero percent of the time?

MR. YAUCH:  It's an assumption that I think is based on us not making an opinion on how the competitive market will work out.  Right?  We think that there is a lot of resources that will be incented to undercut the entire NQS generator class, knowing that these -- this source of resources is now competing on a totally different basis than the way it competes today.

MR. DUFFY:  So, Mr. Yauch, you assumed it happened zero percent of the time in your math, and you are going to tell me that you agree that it's a reasonable assumption; is that correct?  Do you agree with that?

MR. YAUCH:  Our assumption is that competition will play out the way it is going to play out, and that is what our analysis shows.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you, Mr. Yauch.  Just pardon me, for a second.

A couple of final questions, and I am actually going to, I think, direct these to Mr. Chee-Aloy.

Mr. Chee-Aloy, you both advocate on behalf of generators and others in the markets and, as we see, you also provide expert evidence.

Do you have conflict-of-interest guidelines in your firm with respect to when you can act as an expert versus when you have acted for the underlying client in advocacy?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  No.  We do not have anything written down to that effect.

MR. DUFFY:  Did you advise BLG before you were retained by BLG of your past engagements for the Applicants in this matter?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I have not advised BLG or anybody regarding our past engagements regarding multiple market participants that operate in the wholesale market, or those same market participants that have contract matters.

MR. DUFFY:  Did BLG ask you that information?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  No.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Duffy.  Okay.  So that brings us to the end of the IESO's questioning of the NQS witnesses.  And the next order of questioners is OEB Staff.  So I will start with that.  I will get my documents organized.  Sorry, I have too many screens going on, here.
Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So I am going to try to introduce my questions in terms of the topic or themes that I am covering and, you know, provide the documents or excerpts of documents that are related to the questions, and then get into a discussion about them, with my questions.

First topic I would like to cover is the NQS concern about less scheduling commitments for NQS generators, and under the future market under the MRP amendments.

So we would like to turn your attention to the NQS application, paragraph 9(a).  I will put that on the screen.  And so we just point that out, because that is the allegation.

And so my questions from Staff:  First of all, we would just like to better understand how MRP may cause less scheduled commitments and dispatch for NQS generators, even when it is economic to do so.

So just to back up, in that paragraph 9(a) of the application at the bottom, that is the allegation that they might not be dispatched, scheduled, even when it is economic.  So we would like to understand what that means.

And is it a problem from the NQS perspective that, under MRP, this will result in financial impacts for NQS, meaning less revenue?  Or is there any other reason that an NQS generator may not be scheduled or dispatched from a market efficiency perspective?

MR. YAUCH:  So, thank you.  Good afternoon.

I will answer this question.  So, as we talked about, the way that the market is designed today in the pre-dispatch process, as we move to real-time, there are pre-dispatch prices, right, starting hour 20 going all the way down to real-time.  If through that process in PD-3 an NQS generator can look at prices on an incremental-energy-only basis, i.e. it doesn't factor in any of its start-up or speed-no-load costs related to start-up costs, and it is says -- it can see if it is economic on an incremental-energy offer basis only for three -- for half of its MGBRT, three hours for our proxy example, then it can do what we call self-invoke.  Right?  It can essentially call the control room and say, "I am going to be committed.  I can be committed for these six hours."  And so in real-time, even though maybe the first hour of its MGBRT it's not economic on an incremental-energy basis, it would be constrained on, and then it would operate for at least those six hours.

And so that is a way in which maybe it's only economic for three to six hours, but it can self-invoke commitment that the dispatch algorithm or calculation engine would not actually have committed it, so it gives them the opportunity to do this.

When we move to the future, the reason this goes away is that it's no longer self-commitment; the dispatch calculation engine determines your schedule.  And, in that case, it is doing it now not only on an incremental-energy-only basis, but it is looking at your total envelope of costs, which is your start-up costs, as well.  And so in hours, when you're only economic for three hours as opposed to six, especially when you consider the start-up costs, the proxy generator or any NQS generator would be operating at an economic loss.  And so it is very likely that the calculation engine will look to resources that can fill those voids for a certain number of hours on an incremental-energy basis rather than having to commit a whole unit that operates at an economic loss.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So, under MRP in the future, if the whole envelope of costs for an NQS generator have to be taken into account and it therefore is not dispatched, would you agree that it is because it is not economically efficient for it to be dispatched?  Would you agree with that?

MR. YAUCH:  In some cases, but it's just using a different bucket of costs for how the NQS generator is considered in the calculation engine.  So, yes, maybe it's more efficient in the sense that it's trying to recover all those costs via wholesale market energy revenues, i.e. offering into the market and returning, earning, a margin on each unit, megawatt-hour.  But it's not -- I don't know if I would call it more efficient.  It is a different cost calculation, essentially.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Would you agree that, at least in theory, MRP is intended to make the market more economically efficient?

MR. YAUCH:  Agree, yes, and I think it has been said many times maybe in the last couple of days:  Our report does not actually dispute the overall efficiency benefits of MRP.  We think they're there, and we think they are -- a large volume of MSP reports, Market Surveillance Panel reports, that highlight some of the inefficiencies of the current market, and MRP is trying to address some of those.  But we do think it also imposes a financial risk at the same time.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And would you agree that a more economically efficient market means that a generator, be it an NQS generator or other type, is dispatched less frequently because the market is functioning more efficiently?

Would you agree with that statement?

MR. YAUCH:  NQS generators, we believe, will be -- and I think our evidence shows -- dispatched and committed less frequently.  Other resources may be committed and dispatched more frequently, so efficiency may be a trade-off between one resource and another.  And that's the competitive outcome that I was talking about with Mr. Duffy.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I have some questions now, and it's about the concern that the NQS generators have about added volatility associated with locational marginal prices relative to the current HOEP prices and the longer look-ahead period that will be involved.  So there will be a series of questions, and I'm going to be sort of going back and forth between a number of sections of the application and the Power Advisory report.  And I think it would be helpful if I just tell you at the outset which sections I am going to refer to, and then you can sort of bookmark them or put your finger there so that you can just flip back and forth.  Hopefully, it's easier for you to reference.  And, also, we will put them on the screen.

So I'm going to be referring to the following.  I am not going to be putting them on the screen right now, but you might want to write them down.  The NQS application, sections 23(e) and (f); the Power Advisory report, paragraph 48(b) and (d); the Power Advisory report, paragraph 65(c); the Power Advisory report, paragraphs 61 to 62.

So, starting with the application, paragraph 23(e) -- we've got that on the screen.  Okay.  Jump to the second sentence there.  It states that:
"Under MRP, a 1x ramp rate and a constrained dispatch algorithm will be used, which will add volatility to [Locational Marginal Prices] relative to HOEP.  More volatility increases the risk that generation units are running when it is uneconomical to do so."

Could the witnesses explain:  Why is volatility and locational marginal prices relative to HOEP problematic for the NQS generators?

MR. YAUCH:  I'll go with this.  So sorry if I'm looking closely, but it's, like, really small for me, so it is hard to read.  You'll get a close-up of my face.

Today in the HOEP, when we look at HOEP, it's done on a -- it assumes a ramp rate, that things move faster or slower than they actually can ramp up and down, and, when you get to LMP, it is a "1x" ramp rate, so everyone ramps the way they actually can or can't.

When the market first opened back in 2002 and there were no ramp rate assumptions in it, you saw prices being very volatile because there are certain units, particularly thermal units, that may not be able to ramp fast enough in response to demand and other changes on the system, so it created a lot of volatility.  And then, when the ramp rate was introduced to the unconstrained calculation, it then, to smooth some of that volatility -- because it in short makes an assumption that everyone is moving faster than they actually are.  It's in a way a fictitious view of actual dispatch.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Can you explain why, if there is an increase in volatility, that increase the risk that generation units are running when it's uneconomical to do so?

MR. YAUCH:  We make the assumption that there will be a greater number of hours in which the price is suddenly changed down, likely, from up and that the resource will not be able to ramp fast enough, so it will be operating on an uneconomic basis and it will have to either be made whole or dealt with in some other way to deal with the fact that the system is moving faster than the units can actually manoeuvre to deal with changes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So is your view or the argument that volatility will occur because time increments under MRP will be shorter than the technical capability of the NQS generator?

MR. YAUCH:  They will just be more reflective of the actual ramping capabilities of the system.  I should highlight that this risk or any sort of financial risk that this would entail is -- we don't actually include any of this, so this is an assumption of how the market is actually going to operate in the future.  There are a lot of unknowns.  Just the same as last time, when they opened the market, prices were much more volatile than they expected; they made changes.

So we don't actually know how this is going to work.  We just highlight as a potential risk that there is much more volatility in the wholesale market than there is today, which is the market that most -- not -- NQS generators and other participants have a very good understanding of how it is going to sit in every single hour.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And, to the extent that there is volatility or more volatility under MRP, wouldn't the impact of the volatility be averaged out over time?

MR. YAUCH:  That's one potential outcome.  Given that some of the NQS generators may have units that have very particular ramp-rate considerations, we assume that they would be more impacted by the negative downside to that.  But, to your point, there could be more upside, that prices, when they are volatile, the NQS generators are online and they are capturing more of the up upside than downside.  That is one potential outcome, but I don't think it would be -- the reason we don't calculate this is we don't actually think this is going to be that much one way or the other; it's just a risk.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Now, I would like to talk about what you mean and the -- you used the words "strictly economic" a number of times in your evidence and the application, and so I would like to understand if there is a distinction between when you're saying something is strictly economic versus when you consider "the broader envelope" or "broader consideration of costs."  So I would like to turn up the NQS application, at paragraph 23(f).  Yes, there it is.  It states that:
"According to the IESO's detail design documents, optimizing over an entire day may result in commitment that may not be strictly economic in nature."

So, can you just elaborate on what NQS Power Advisory understands or means by the term that commitments may not be "strictly economic"?

MR. YAUCH:  So this is in relation to the deemed dispatch agreements.  So I'm going to try not to talk about those as much, but I may ask one of my colleagues to chime in if we have to.  But essentially when we talk about "strictly economic," it means they're dispatched when the incremental energy offers are greater or below the market clearing price or LMP or whichever price, HOEP, whatever you're using.  So when we say something is "strictly economic," it would only be committed in dispatch when that is the case.  When you look out over an entire day, when you optimize over an entire day you take in a bunch of constraints that happened over multiple hours, in which case the system might say, well, there is two or three hours where you are economic, but there is other resources that are already constrained on so we're going to consider them and you're not going to be dispatched or vice versa.  There is times when you may uneconomic but you're continuing a run, or whatever is happening to dispatch a commitment, that doesn't look economic on an incremental energy basis, but you're committed because it's from a system-wide point of view over 24 hours.  It is the greatest -- most optimal outcome.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  You would agree that even in the current market that this is the case?  I mean, the demand conditions, you know, within a day can change over the course of the entire day.  It's not going to be strictly economic, you know, in a certain formula or a calculation the same throughout the entire day?

MR. YAUCH:  The difference today --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Can you --


MR. YAUCH:  Well, the difference in today in terms of, particularly in the pre-dispatch process, is that it's working over multiple hours.  So it is more on an incremental energy basis.  And the NQS Generator itself can look over three hours, sticking with the proxy generators' parameters, it can look out and self-invoke commitment.  So, in hours when it's going to be economic but won't get a commitment, it can then get itself online.  So, today is only a one-hour -- it's hour to hour, it's not optimizing over an entire 24-hour period in the pre-dispatch process.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Now, I would like to now turn to your Power Advisory report looking at paragraph 55(c) and there is a comment there about currently generators having a second opportunity at a commitment.  I'm just kind halfway through that paragraph.  It starts, "In the current...market" -- I'm trying to avoid the acronyms:
"The pre-dispatch commitment provides a second opportunity, or hedge, for commitment if an NQS Generator is not successful in the day-ahead commitment process."

And can you elaborate on what you mean by this second opportunity to -- for a commitment in a hedge?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.  First, I would say welcome to the acronym salad bar.  It's a wonderful place to be at.

Secondly, so to get to your point, today you have two processes.  There is the DACP and there is the pre-dispatch and real-time processes.  DACP carries in the PD in real-time, but they're, for better or for worse, two different commitment processes.

An NQS generator on any given day can consider the types of net margin they'd earn through the Real-Time GCG program and it can factor those into its offers, its three-part offers, if it's going to commit on that -- participate on that basis in the DACP.  It can include those opportunity costs into its actual three-part energy offer costs if it would like to.  It can try to get a commitment at DACP.

If it is not successful, for whatever reason not picked up, as we talked about in  other parts of our evidence -- I think the IESO confirmed, too, that sometimes the DACP is different than real-time, exports do not participate in it, there are various differences in DACP and PD.  And you can say, okay, I didn't get a DACP process but now I'm going to look in the PD process, which is now just on an incremental energy basis, and I'm going to adjust my offers, potentially, if I want a commitment and I'm going to monitor prices up until PD-3 and I'm going to try and get commitment through the Real-Time GCG, which has different commitment parameters than the DA-PCG.

Again, apologies.  I can walk through those.  So it has these two different opportunities using two different commitment programs that have design features, and it can try to get a commitment one.  If it is not successful it has the potential to get a commitment in another one.  So it has two different opportunities that have two different cost structures.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, would you agree in the current system because of this sort of second chance, one in the day-ahead process and then in the real-time, do generators have an incentive to skip the current day-ahead process?  So, for example, they can put in a high energy bid and, you know, they -- and they would do that, I guess, to get the Day-Ahead Production Cost Guarantee, which uses three-part offers.  But then they de-commit from that.  So, then they get a second chance in the real-time market, but it has a different formula.

So, would you agree that that -- the part of the current market is incentivizing, or at least creating a way, to give these generators a second chance that, you know, is beneficial to them right now, but may not be more efficient for the market; would you agree with any of that?

MR. YAUCH:  To an extent.  I think there are revenue and net margin opportunities in the Real-Time GCG that will differ than the DA-PCG and in a competitive process generators may respond to that and offer definitely.  And so, yes, they may offer one way in the DA-PCG and they may offer another way in the Real-Time GCG.  I should note that today Real-Time GCG costs are largely pre-approved so to a certain extent they don't change much in there.  But they have an ability to change their participation, their offer structures, in those two processes.

I would add that the Real-Time GCG program allows them to deal with the financial incentives that are buried in their contracts.  We don't have to talk about contracts, but contracts deem you to operate on an incremental energy basis.  And so, the Real-Time GCG program, the way they can get committed, largely mimics that design.  And so, it allows them to get this second opportunity to deal with the financial implications of deemed dispatch.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  If I could now turn to Power Advisory report paragraphs 61 and 62.  I won't read it all out, but the gist of it is that NQS resources are being treated differently than other generation resources with respect to being evaluated on more than incremental energy costs.  And so, Staff would like to understand what is NQS's position and supporting evidence that it is being treated differently than other resources as a result of the costs that are being considered in their offer.


MR. YAUCH:  So I'll start.  I may throw it to one of my colleagues, too, at one point.

At a high level there are a certain number of resources, nuclear, wind, and solar that are not really going to be privy to Market Power Mitigation.  There is limited risk, they offer very negative or they have zero marginal costs.  And so, many of the issues that are surrounding this topic may apply them in a tangential sense, but it's not going to be a primary risk factor they're facing.

When it comes to NQS generators in someone like hydro, I think there is a very different outcome on how these two resources are treated.  NQS generators have all the various operational parameters -- many of them we have talked about: MG-BRT, MLP, ramp rate, incremental energy offer, startup cost, you know, all of these various things, both operational and financial.  It means you're all subject to ex-ante and ex-post mitigation.

Hydro also has a significant number of operational parameters that are built in the calculations, things like minimum energy output, starts, we have a whole table there that lists them all.  Many of those are not actually privy to ex-ante mitigation or ex-post mitigation.

So, the IESO has said in its reply evidence that, you know, this is to account for the fact that hydro resources are unique and have various operational parameters, water limits, so on and so forth, that need to be accounted for.  And that is actually true and there is no dispute there.

But the fact of the matter is they have a lot of control in how their energy gets on and off the system that is not prone to the IESO saying, no, no, you have to go back to a reference level and, guess what, if we don't agree with it you have to come dispute resolution with us and then maybe go to arbitration to determine whether you were correct or not.  And so, they're treated very differently in the sense of how they get to interact with the system and dump their energy on or off the system, regardless of how it works within the economics of the broader calculation engine.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  If I may, Ms. Djurdjevic, I just want to add to that too.  Because, obviously, we respect totally the need for water management and we understand that there are specific new rule amendments that would allow certain parameters on an optional basis for hydro-electric generators, to then, as my colleague Mr. Yauch had said, better control how they are scheduled and how they produce energy.  And these parameters are factored into the IESO calculation engines based upon the design and rules.

So I am linking this back to some of the stuff we heard yesterday from the IESO, and we have said some of this this morning:  This is an example where the  rules to allow for hydro-electric generators to exercise those parameters puts them on a better footing to control how they compete against non-quick start generators for dispatch and setting price.

So when you go back in time, yes, non-quick start generators and other gas-fired generators are often the marginal units that set price.  Aside from them, and I don't have the numbers in front of me -- we can get it -- hydro-electric generators also often set price.

So we believe the addition of these parameters advantages hydro-electric generation.  Again, I repeat, not disputing that there should be abilities to manage water and all of those things that go beyond the wholesale market, and reliability.  But the dynamic impact of all of that is what we are talking about, regarding discrimination.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, for that, Mr. Chee-Aloy.  On that point, would NQS be willing to give an undertaking to indicate what percentage of -- so my understanding is that NQS Generators are the price setters, and significantly.  But we have now just heard that hydro is, as well.

I would like to get some understanding of the percentage of dispatch that is attributed -- where hydro is the price-setter, and also where an NQS generator is the price setter.  Is that information available that could be provided to us?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. YAUCH:  So that it's not publicly available, what unit is the marginal unit.  The only publicly available data is released by the Market Surveillance Panel; they actual publish charts on it.  We can make assumptions around, you know, when prices are at this range, it is probably one unit or the other, but that is speculative on our -- of what we determine the marginal cost is of these different units.

But the Market Surveillance Panel publishes a variety of tables, who sets price, both in pre-dispatch and real time.  So those are very good benchmarks.  We can get the references in those reports, if you would like, but they are in almost all of them.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  To save me some work, if you would be willing to provide those references, that would be very helpful.  And I will make that Undertaking JT2.3.
UNDERTAKING JT2.3:  NQS TO FILE REFERENCES TO PRE-DISPATCH AND REAL-TIME TABLES FROM MARKET SURVEILLANCE PANEL REPORTS

MR. YAUCH:  Again, I should highlight too that the chart we have on page 38, figure 12, is actually from the hydro -- the Market Surveillance Panel, and so it provides an element here.  You can see that, if you look at the summer of 2020, for example, hydro set the price at 39 percent hours as opposed to 59 percent for gas.

So it will change on a seasonal basis, winter, summer, spring, fall, this kind of stuff.  But you can get an idea that it is not always just NQS generators that are setting price, that opportunity cost hydro will target price-setting NQS generators for dispatch.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thank you, for that helpful information.

So the next sort of topic I would like to discuss is the concern that NQS Generators has about the more extensive look-ahead period that will be used in the MRP.  And I would like to refer to the Power Advisory report, paragraph 48(d).

And the second sentence in there talks about the more extensive look-ahead period, and various constraints and inputs being applied in the calculation engine and so on, which, as we understand, you say will make the day-ahead market more volatile than currently.

So we would like to understand what is the financial impact of that, that longer look-ahead period and supposed increased volatility?  How will that affect NQS generators?

MR. YAUCH:  So first, I will say that the financial risk of this comment is not embedded anywhere in numbers.  This is one of these risks that we highlight as a potential risk but, given that we don't know how the system is actually going to operate yet and there is no publicly available testing from the IESO on how it is working to testing, we don't actually know.

But our assumption here is is that when you have a 27-hour look-ahead, so the day-ahead market, you have to have your offers in by 10 o'clock in the morning of the day before, and early afternoon around, 3 o'clock, those results are released.  And then, a couple of hours later, the 27-hour lap kicks in.

So at hour 27 if, for example, you are an NQS generator and you get a commitment, the pre-dispatch calculation has said we are going to need you now, in some other hour.  You say, "Okay, I didn't get a commitment a day-ahead.  Now I have to go and get gas, because I thought I wasn't going to be committed and now I am committed."

Then you go on hour 10 where, like, whatever, how many hours ahead again -- I don't want to do math on the
stand -- suddenly that commitment has changed.  And now the commitment has been taken away.  So, as you go through the pre-dispatch time frame, you can have your commitments change, up or down.

I mean, if we look at Ontario's system, we have a significant amount of intermittent supply that doesn't exist in other markets in terms of total energy supply, and these resources can cause fluctuations in the demand forecast because some of them are embedded.  It can also cause fluctuations in supply available.

So you have all these moving parts and then, within it, you have an NQS generator getting a commitment on or off, or on and off, multiple times, and it has to manage that.  Whereas today, it can sit back and wait until a certain period, PD-3, and it can then say "Okay, now the system is where it is, there is a lot more certainty within three hours."  Now I am going to say "I've got the gas.  I am ready commit on an incremental energy basis, and I will invoke the Real-Time GCG."

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  And, Ms. Djurdjevic, just to add to that:  First off, when we look at the other wholesale markets operated by ISOs and RTOs, independent system operators and regional transmission organizations, Alberta and the seven in the U.S., they all commit units differently when it comes to the pre-dispatch time frame.

They are all fairly consistent in terms of how their day-ahead markets operate.  They are all fairly consistent, how their real-time markets operate.  They are all fairly different when it comes to the pre-dispatch, and how they can commit units or un-commit units or change those commitments.

For the most part, there isn't a whole lot going on in most of those markets after the day-ahead market closes, to roughly about two hours prior to the respective real-time dispatch hour.

So there is more certainty that way in the sense of, to use my partner, my colleague, Mr. Yauch's, example.  So the gas-fired generator has purchased the gas, it has purchased the services to bring the gas to its burner tip, and then it understands how it will operate based on its day-ahead schedule in the real-time market based on the two-settlement system and all the things that go with it.

As Mr. Yauch had said, based on the over 7,000 megawatts of wind and solar generation, demand forecasts for energy production from wind and solar, as an example, provide a lot of volatility.  And that will be an input into the calculation engines under MRP in pre-dispatch.

So you can imagine, that's just one example.  I can talk about outages, I can talk about failed imports closer to the real-time dispatch hour.  And if I marry that to the point I made earlier, with optional parameters to which specific hydro-electric generators can use to better secure their minimum outputs, to better secure when they use their water, the resources that are going to be moved up and down, if they are not committed to the day-ahead,  then they are committed through pre-dispatch are the gas-fired generators, they are the non-quick start generators.

So that is the risk, because sometimes it will be up and sometimes it will be down, and we think that that is quite problematic.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I guess our next question is what in your view is an appropriate look-ahead time period?  Is it three hours only?  Or something else?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I think --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  If you have a view.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Well, I mean, let's put it this way:  I really understand what the Market Rules and the design are doing.  It is looking over a longer period to try to get the most optimal dispatch, right?  And it is trying to provide a least-cost solution, not just for one hour at a time, but for up to 27 contiguous hours. I understand that, and that makes sense.

But the reality is you've got machines producing electricity that have to balance reliability.  And in the case -- and again, I am not disputing the fact that hydro-electric generation requires capabilities to manage their water.  That's just a lot to do, given where the IESO has gone with their 27-hour look-ahead period.

So you are asking the question; I think the anecdotal evidence is, in many other markets, they let the market work.  They basically say, "Here is the day-ahead market.  Get yourself scheduled."  They have commitment program.  All the -- then, that's a little different, too, in terms of when the unit commitment happens in various markets, especially across the U.S. because there is no unit commitment in Alberta, and then try to secure better lockdown between two and four hours before the real-time dispatch hour.

So that's where all the adjustments will be made, for the most part, to lock in what's going to happen in real-time.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And so again going back to this look-ahead period and the supposed risk, from your perspective, and volatility, there is still the generator guarantee that is supposed make the NQS generator whole.  So would you agree that, even with the longer look-ahead period and if there was more volatility and the generators', you know, pricing and offers fluctuate, they are still going to be made whole?  Is that not the case?

MR. YAUCH:  For the day-ahead process, yes.  So, if you get a commitment in the day-ahead period, then you will be made whole on that even if things change.  Pre-dispatch process, if you get a commitment in PD-27, so 27 hours' look-ahead, I don't think you get that guarantee for that if the commitment then changes throughout the 27 hours.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So again going back to that longer look-ahead period, as Mr. Chee-Aloy indicated, it's a longer period of time and more can happen.  Some generators that initially appear to be more economic may appear less economic and others can appear more attractive.

Isn't that the point of -- let me rephrase that.  Isn't the point of the MRP and a more efficient market that the most flexible and cost-effective resources will be deployed, whether that is over a shorter or longer look-ahead period?

Is it not a good thing for the market that there may be these fluctuations and ultimately the most cost-effective and flexible resources are the ones that are selected?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  You would agree with that?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Ms. Djurdjevic, overall we do.  We accept all of the premises to which the IESO has undertaken market renewal, gone through high-level design and detailed design consultations and then finally rule amendments.  We totally accept and understand how the wholesale market has basically been moving towards this point of restructuring.  And overall restructuring of the market is going to be provide overall benefits.

What we have been asked to do and what we are isolating is -- and this has been the logic throughout our entire report and our entire engagement -- is to isolate a group of generators, non-quick-start generators:  What are the impacts to them?

So I agree that there could be overall benefits to the wholesale market.  That's not a dispute in our mind.  It's how the non-quick-start generators have been operating and remunerated today in the wholesale market relative to under market renewal.  And that's where we have concluded, based on Mr. Yauch's analysis, financial harm.

And I realize and I accept that we're not supposed to talk about contracts, but it has been almost impossible -- not to mention even with IESO's counsel -- that those are considerations that the non-quick-start generators have to factor in in terms of what are the implications to their operations and what are the implications to how they're remunerated, not just within the market, also their contracts.  And they're not alone that way; every single resource is like that, that has a contract or rate regulator.

MR. YAUCH:  Can I get one thing just out of the last -- maybe we will close it off.  No NQS generator needs 27 hours to start, right, so it's a very long period that has, to an NQS generator who you are asked to look at, limited benefit.

Additionally, 27 hours is a significantly long time period, and a lot can change.  So, while you're locking things in 27 hours ahead, you know it's going to change.  So, while it's supposed to create uncertainty, it also creates a lot of uncertainty at the same time.  That's all we're highlighting here.  We didn't attribute a financial impact to it.  It's just that it is not as clear as:  Why don't we do a 27- and 100-hour look-ahead.  Right?  Like, things change, so we don't -- it introduces a lot more uncertainty than it's being presented as.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  I would like to look at some of the operational constraints that -- go back a bit -- suggest how NQS generators are different.  They have different characteristics.  They have costs that other generators don't, so speed-no-load, start-up costs, and so on.

Just to confirm, these are unique to these generators and they are compensated for them out of market; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So -- all right.  And I'm just kind of going through my notes to make sure I'm not repeating anything that has already been covered.

Looking at paragraph 55(d) of the Power Advisory report, this talks about the economic barriers to NQS generators being committed in a future market.  So we have talked about NQS generators having certain costs, and, in the new market, NQS generators will have to factor in those costs in addition to incremental energy costs for their offers.

So I would like to understand why this is an issue or why you say it creates a barrier for NQS resources.

MR. YAUCH:  Maybe a better way to phrase it:  It creates a greater barrier than today.

The issue really is that the greater envelope of costs being considered in the calculation engine will create that -- make that barrier a little bit higher to clear the economics to get yourself online; whereas, today, you don't have to clear as much of that barrier.  If the PD-3 price, for example, is one penny over your incremental energy offer for three hours, if you have a 600 MGBRT, then you can sell them both to GCG and operate and target those net-margin opportunities like OR and operating beyond your MGBRT that we talked about with Mr. Duffy.

So it's just noting that the economic barrier to commitment is changing, and it's changing really for one resource to a much greater extent than other resources.  That may be for market efficiency benefits, so we're not disputing the fact that, from an overall market efficiency perspective, that's what's happening.  MRP makes a claim.  It has had many claims about that, and we're actually not disputing that claim.  We're just recognizing that that is the case.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So looking at this from the public-interest perspective or the consumer's perspective, I mean, ultimately all of the costs that NQS generators have, they're ultimately charged back to ratepayers, currently through HOEP and the cost guarantee.  So Staff are still struggling to understand how -- you know these costs are going to be paid and the NQS generators will be made whole, and ratepayers are ultimately paying for it.  So, if in the past NQS generators may have been overcompensated or some of the market payments were too generous, ratepayers paid for that.

In the future market under MRP, as long as NQS generators are kept whole but are maybe paid less than in the past, that would be a good thing for ratepayers, would it not, from the perspective of the ratepayer.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  No, correct, absolutely.  Absolutely, it is a good thing.  But I think the thing to think about is -- and this is a thing that -- having been to a lot of IESO consultations regarding market renewal, there isn't a whole lot of thought in terms of:  Okay, well, it is a market; there will be different prices in the LMPs; there will be different schedules.

It's not the same.  Just because the system has always been dispatched on a constraint basis to encounter all the congestion and security limits, it doesn't mean that those same instructions are going to be identical in the future, based on market renewal.

So the reality is, to my point, you're saying that NQS generators are kept whole; if they're more efficiently dispatched or if they're more efficiently committed, it is a better overall solution for customers and for the market, I agree with all of those points.  But if the payments in the marketplace, as we've been purporting with Mr. Yauch's analysis, are less, again, isolating everything, just looking at the non-quick start generators as what occurs today versus what we believe will occur tomorrow, that's less revenue.  And the reality is if they change their behaviour and they start to offer in differently to the market; right?

The system, the IESO's calculation engines might have to then schedule/dispatch other resources that are more expensive to meet what otherwise the non-quick start generators would have been meeting.  So, the overall solution at the end of the day, the intent is there, we don't know the outcome yet and that's what we're questioning a little bit about the overall points of the market and what does this mean regarding market renewal amendments versus how the system is being operated and dispatched and how generators is being remunerated today and what the costs are.

MR. YAUCH:  I can get one thing.  So, I actually think you're correct and that this may be better for consumers; right?  We're reducing what are deemed as overcompensation, although that is a slippery term in what that means.  But this program has been in place for 24 years.  Everyone has known about it.  The IESO has known about it and been told about it many times, what it is.  Everyone invested in this province based on the design of this program amongst other reasons; right?  A whole variety of reasons, but this is one factor in terms of their investment and now it is changing.

And the impact in terms of MRP is largely being, according to our analysis, being largely borne by one group of participants and that is NQS Generators who relied on this program, and invested in the province and built assets based on a program of revenue, or wholesale market revenues, and now it is changing.  So, in the future the long term investment signal is that, hey, if you build something here we may change the Market Rules and the contract design that will negatively impact you from a financial perspective.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thanks for that.  And we do understand, you know, the NQS position.  I'm just trying to go through the evidence and the positions that are on the record and just to clarify that, you know, NQS's complaint or concern is not that it will be out of money, it just will be not getting the revenues or the profits that it had been and, you know, under the current system.  And so, we do understand that.  So, just a couple more -- well, I'll have to see at the lunch break if I can ask my questions based on what we've already discussed.

The next topic I would like to look at is the concept of the generated cost guarantee as a critical hedging tool.  And I would like to turn to the application paragraph 23(d) and that talks about the current Generator Cost Guarantee program and the -- and then the position -- the view is that this served as a critical hedging tool to deemed operation.

Now, again, so Staff understands and that affording NQS a change in the generator guarantee payment will be less generous.  But we just want to clarify that in terms of, you know, a hedge, it is still a bit -- there are still going to be cost guarantees available and generators will be able to hedge against any losses; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  I must speak to this.  I may ask my colleague Michael to speak to it as well, but the critical hedging tool to deemed operation, that's a very important component to that sentence and it's because the CES contracts are designed in a way that you are deemed -- you're assumed to have operated in the market on an incremental energy-only basis, not on a three-part offer basis, not on any other basis.  So, the Real-Time GCG program allows them to hedge that risk because it commits them more on a -- primarily on an incremental energy basis, as opposed to a three-part offer basis.  So,

that hedging tool, as it relates to that sentence.  There are other hedging tools we use in our evidence, but in that sentence it is related to the deemed operation, the contracts, that deems them to operate and participate in the IESO wholesale market in a certain manner and the Real-Time GCG program mimics that or allows them to protect against that.

MR. KILLEAVY:  Yeah.  I've read about -- I have relative to the add.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Can we look at the Power Advisory report page 32, and figure 9, which shows guaranteed payments that they would be available under the MRP.  And in particular -- let me -- Staff's understanding of this is that it indicates that you are still -- NQS Generators would still be recovering all of their commitment costs under the MRP amendments; is that right?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.  If you're committed, your start-up costs and everything else are compensated, if not recovered, from the market.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So, NQS Generators do still have access to this critical hedging tool which keeps them whole; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  No -- well, I don't mean to say no, but there is a very real difference here in that this is the box A, it's assuming all those costs to get you committed, your start-up costs, your speed-no-load costs, incremental costs and it's assuming that's the economic barrier that you have to hop over to get committed.  In today's market it's just your incremental energy offer for half your MGBRT, so it's a lower barrier.  And today's market allows you to mimic how you're deemed in your contracts based on the design of the Real-Time GCG program.  But in the future, in this case, is an example where now the barrier is much higher even though you're economic -- I know I'm using that term again and I'm happy to clarify -- you're economic for a couple of hours and you're now deemed to be operating.  You're not actually committed because your overall cost structure makes you uneconomic and that's the difference; right?  That there is -- the barrier is higher so your commitment in dispatch goes down, but your deemed dispatch does not change at all.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I'll move on.  So, the next topic I would like to talk about congestion management settlement credits, or the acronym CMSC, but I will avoid that acronym.  And I would like to look at paragraph 9 of the application.  And, for starters, if the witnesses could explain what are congestion management settlement credits and why generators currently have access to them, in addition to other out-of-market compensations such as the Generator Cost  Guarantee.  So, if you could explain it to us?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.  So, congestion management settlement credits, CMSC, Ontario has, what is in many respects, a unique a wholesale market in that there is a constrained and unconstrained system.  The unconstrained calculation engine sets prices and -- on a basis where there are no physical constraints on the grid.  So, I don't want to call it a fictitious, but in a way it is a fictitious system, because it is assuming, you know, there is no transmission congestion or anything like that.

So, it sets a price that way, and that's the market price that most everyone is settled on.

At the same time, that's not how the system actually works; right?  There is a security constrained dispatch which then factors in all these different elements.  So there may be times in which while in the unconstrained system you were economic you would have received a schedule.  Some physical constraint means that you were constrained off or in some cases constrained up, it goes up and down.  And when there is a difference in that, when you are constrained on, and the price doesn't make you whole to your incremental energy offer, you're paid to CMSC to make sure you're made financially whole and follow a dispatch.  So, it's a financial payment that in essence bridges different divergences between the unconstrained and constrained calculation engines.  I can explain more, but I think that gets it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And is it the case that the congestion management credits are paid, not just for, you know, at congestion on a transmission line, but to account for other things?  Like, for example, the three times ramp rate?  Did I say that correctly?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah, they incorporate various physical constraints.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And so, CMSCs are going to be discontinued under MRP.  And so, I guess -- and given that, you know, the ramp rate is not going to be three times, it will be one times ramp rate, can NQS generators still see that there is a need to continue CMSC credits in addition to the other out-of-market compensation they have?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  No, there is no position of NQS generators that way.  But just to go back and build off of Mr. Yauch's answer.  In principle, CMSC was created, as Mr. Yauch had described and I'll use the term correctly, to ensure that the generators and dispatchable loads are made whole to their operating profit.

But, over time, since the unconstrained schedule producing the hourly Ontario energy price and the five-minute price, compared to the constraint schedule in terms of how the system is actually dispatched, there is becoming more of a wedge between the two, if you will.

And in compensating generators not just for transmission congestion, but for a whole host of reasons, as long as those two schedules, constrained and unconstrained, differ, the compensation is CMSC.

That is different than a make-whole payment under market renewal.  Make-whole payments on balance will be less because you will not have any differences between an unconstrained schedule and a constraint schedule.  There will just be a constraint schedule.  And make-whole payments will keep, as it says, generators and other resources whole to how they have offered in, and to their costs.

So there is a difference and, on balance, CMSC payments will be larger, so therefore make-whole payments relative to the CMSC payments will be less, and NQS Generators don't have any issue on that.  We are just pointing out that CMSC payments today get factored into the revenues that NQS generators can receive in the wholesale market and, on balance, it's not equal to make-whole payments in the future and, on balance, make-whole payments will be less.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thanks for that clarification.  So I propose to have one more sort of topic and question, and then we will suggest that we break for lunch and we will continue after.

So the last sort of topic I am looking at now is -- well, NQS -- let's just turn to the Power Advisory report, paragraph 49(b).  And the concern that seems to be expressed is that under the MRP system, that NQS Generators will be less able to forecast prices, or that it will be more challenging; that is the last sentence in that paragraph.  Do you see that?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So Staff would like to understand why is it important for NQS generators to be able to forecast prices if, you know, tactically, we understand NQS generators are supposed to be bidding on their actual and marginal costs.

So why do they need to be able to forecast wholesale prices and locational marginal prices?

MR. YAUCH:  Generators usually undertake a variety of operational considerations, such as when they are going to take outages and things like that.  So, I mean, I know our firm offers a lot of price forecasting.  People come to us to understand when they will or not be dispatched, how often it is going to happen, what kind of profit margins they are going to give up if they are or are not going to be dispatched to a certain way.

So there is a whole bunch of understandings -- understanding that is required to operate what are very large, sophisticated machines that require sophisticated investments and sophisticated operations and maintenance, and all that has to play in to how they manage to operate the asset.

As we sit here today, there is HOEP, there is an unconstrained system.  Ontario's system has largely been the same for at least the last couple of years.  I know now, nuclear going away, things are changing.  But people have an understanding, market participants have an understanding of how the price is going to be set and how the economic merit order is going to be looking.

When we get to LMPs, you have this whole new risk of transmission constraints, particularly looking at north and south, and transmission constraints even within Southern Ontario due to nuclear retirements and outages and other things going on.  There is a whole new element of risk that comes into price forecasting that happens on an hourly basis that is not nearly as prevalent today, and you have to factor that price outcome into how you manage an asset and operate it.

And while, yes, they might participate and offer on a marginal cost basis, marginal costs -- we make them seem simple to report, and we took it as a simplified assumption, but they are not always that easy.  There are a whole bunch of factors that could go into just slight changes to marginal cost offers.

And the IESO, in its own market power mitigation regime and framework as proposed, its MRP, you know, it does give leeway.  Even if you are behind in constraint, there -- you have a leeway to change your energy offer to a certain extent.  So they are cognizant of the fact that, while marginal costs may be one simple thing, it is actually in reality not that simple.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thanks for that.

So I propose that we take our lunch break now, and take just less than hour so we can come back at 1:30 and continue on schedule.  Does that sound reasonable to everyone?  Okay.  All right.  Let's see you all back at 1:30.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:36 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:31 p.m.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Welcome back, everyone.  So we're going to continue with Staff questions, and I only have a couple more.  The general topic is about the market power mitigation framework in the current market and then in the future market under MRP.

So I would like to first turn to the Power Advisory report, paragraph 58(b).  So, here, you talk about the current mitigation framework, which is done on an ex-post, or after-the-fact, basis.  And so skipping forward to the sentence beginning "because":
"Because market power is addressed through a clawback of these payments, it does not have an impact on other supply resources across the market as it focuses only on payments made to each individual supply resource."

And so, to sum up what we understand from this, in the current market, if there is an exercise of market power, mitigation is done after the fact.  If I'm reading this evidence correctly, the impact of after-the-fact mitigation is only on the generator that is mitigated, and that is done by a clawback of amounts that it was paid.  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And would you agree that in the future, under MRP, in the day-ahead market, the exercise of market power by a particular generator could impact detrimentally other market participants, as well?  Would you agree with that?

MR. YAUCH:  Impact other market participants in the sense that it could lower the LMP that they were paid.  I don't know if that's detrimental, but, yes, it would have an impact on other resource types.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And, because of that, would you agree that there is a need for ex-ante mitigation and not just after-the-fact mitigation?

MR. YAUCH:  Ex-ante mitigation is fairly common across wholesale markets, particularly some of the markets that were essentially used as a benchmark for MRP:  NYISO, ISO New England, PJM.  They all do market mitigation a little bit differently, but they generally either do a pivotal supply test or conduct and impact test, as we've done here.  And, yes, they do it on an ex-ante basis, typically, so we don't think the IESO, that approach, has any -- is out of the norm or particularly Draconian in any sense compared to other wholesale markets.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  To put it kind of simplistically, the reason that there is a need for this is that it would not be as good for the market to wait until after the fact to address all the potential impacts on other market participants that a particular generator's exercise of market power could have caused?  Simply speaking, is that --


MR. YAUCH:  You used the term "good" --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

MR. YAUCH:  -- which I think.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I know.

MR. YAUCH:  "Good" is maybe a bit more subjective.  But there are other markets, like Alberta, that do not really have an ex-ante market power mitigation framework, and they operate on essentially a different basis in terms that resources try to cover their fixed costs via energy market revenues.

Ontario went down a different path and decided to do contracts and other methods, and that in many ways has actually limited the need for market power mitigation, but that is just one approach that we decided to do here, and it results in different outcomes.

But that is not the only path in terms of making sure that no one can recover profits through the energy market and pay for fixed costs.  That's just how we have done it here, and it is why we said throughout the report that you can't divorce one from the other.  Right?  If you don't have profits in the market to pay for fixed costs, then you have got to have contracts for some out-of-market payments to compensate people.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thanks for that.  And you would agree that, in the current market, the after-the-fact mitigation exercise is quite protracted and burdensome on parties.  Would you agree with that general statement?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes, and I will let -- my colleagues may have additional comments, but, yes, it's a protracted process that is administratively burdensome.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I would also add, If I may, there are two aspects with market renewal regarding market power mitigation, and maybe we're getting to it, but you've been talking about ex-ante mitigation, so that certainly is the case, as my colleague Mr. Yauch has been describing.  But there is also ex-post mitigation, as well, so there is still after-the-fact mitigation, just to be clear on that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you for that clarification.  I guess what we're trying to get at is, in the current market where a market participant exercises market power, they're the only one getting mitigated after the fact, ex-post, and there is not an impact on other market participants.  But in the future, under MRP, exercising market power could impact a whole bunch of participants, and, if the only recourse was the protracted ex-post mitigation that possibly impacted many market participants, this would be even more protracted and complex.  Do you agree with that generally?

And I think that's what I meant when I said it wouldn't be a good thing.  Let's say it wouldn't be efficient and it wouldn't be a cost-effective way to deal with all of the consequences of a potential exercise of market power.  In that context, would you agree that it's not an efficient way in the market to only deal with market power on an after-the-fact basis?

MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Djurdjevic, I apologize for interrupting your question.  I'm not sure many of the witnesses have heard your question, and I don't know if you can hear it behind me, but there is currently a PA announcement that is saying everyone on this floor needs to evacuate the floor and go down the stairwells.  And it is very --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, okay.

MR. VELLONE:  -- [audio dropout] to hear what you're saying.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Can you give us a moment?  We're going to turn our cameras off and see whether or not we have to evacuate the building.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, of course, of course.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Go ahead.

MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Djurdjevic, we are being required to evacuate the building.  What we are going to do is move over to the Power Advisory offices and attempt to reconnect again.  It is 1:40 right now.  I expect we can get up and running by 2:30 at the latest.  I apologize for the inconvenience here.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  No, obviously it's beyond your control.  So let's do that, and you'll let us know if we can get together again at 2:30.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Sorry about that.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  No worry.  Thank you, everyone.  See you back at 2:30.
--- Recess taken at 1:41 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:15 p.m.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  When we left off, I had started some questions about market power mitigation and I would like to continue with that and now talk about the setting of the parameters and to what extent a generator has control or whether it's determined by the IESO solely.  If we could turn to the Power Advisory report looking at paragraph 58(c).  So, this talks about the future market power mitigation framework under MRP.  And the second sentence states:
"If the resource is determined to have market power and, based on the IESO's assessment, these parameters fall outside the IESO-determined ranges (for instance, incremental energy offer exceeds marginal operating cost...) the IESO will replace the market participant's submitted parameter with the IESO-determined mitigated parameter."

So Staff, again, would like to understand -- and some of this was discussed yesterday, but I don't want to dwell on it too long, but I want to give these witnesses a chance to respond to it as we did with the IESO's witnesses.  So, our understanding from the evidence and yesterday's witnesses is that a market participant can request a reference level from the IESO and then it is either agreed upon or there is an independent review process by a third party.  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Ms. Djurdjevic, that's correct, but I want to clarify.  What the IESO was speaking about, they were keying in on after the initial reference levels and parameters had been established, what rights do the market -- does the market participant have to change the reference levels.  And they accurately described those steps.

Our point about IESO-determined is accurate because, for example, today before market renewal has started -- and this was established yesterday -- that there is a process where individual market participants are, if you will, basically negotiating with the IESO what those reference levels are as the initial set of parameters to be used for market -- for IESO's administration of market power mitigation.

If the market participant and the IESO can't agree, the IESO will determine what those reference levels are.  And then the process picks up, as described yesterday, in the event that the market participant wishes to have a change to the reference level, what was said was accurate yesterday.  There are other nuances which I don't think need to be put in play right now in terms of that process.

But ultimately speaking, what has been defined in the rules in the associated Market Manuals largely renders the IESO as the ability to have final decision, at least for the initial set of reference level parameters and under certain circumstances based on an independent third party that would validate and change those reference levels based on their opinion.  Brady?  Mr. Yauch?

MR. YAUCH:  I don't have much more to add other than the fact that, yeah, Mike, I think that sort of covers it.  I don't know if there is anything else really to get to.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you for that clarification.  I would like to now turn to paragraph 58(f) of the Power Advisory report, and here it is noted, as elsewhere that:
"NQS Generators are often wholesale market price-setting supply resources..."

And then the sentence says:
"The potential for NQS Generators to have their energy, operating reserve, and other components of their offers subject to market power mitigation, is far greater than other supply resources."

So, as indicated in -- and there is also a figure at paragraph 58(c), do you see that, figure 12?  Is that 58(c)?  Yes, figure 12 at 58(c).  Still this evidence indicates that NQS Generators are often price-setting resources.  So, does this not imply that they are often at least in a position to exercise market power?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes and no, I guess for lack of a better, definitive answer.  When you are the price-setting unit, the opportunity to exercise market power is more prevalent than if not, but that doesn't mean that you are exercising it; right?  If it's a competitive market, just because you're the price-setting unit doesn't mean that you can just willy-nilly set prices you like.  If it's competitive competition will drive prices wherever it is.  So, you may be the price-setting unit, but if it's a competitive market it doesn't mean you are able to exercise market power.  So, while they're price setting, they may be in the ability more often to set prices and be caught in the mitigation screens.  If the market is competitive then that wouldn't actually happen, because competition would be able to push price to extreme levels.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Ms. Djurdjevic, just if I may, since you've referenced the table.  Pointing out, as we've highlighted, gas-fired generation which will include obviously the non-quick start generators, this is from the Market Surveillance Panel of the Ontario Energy Board, data from the IESO wholesale market summer 2021, 62 percent of the time setting prices in real-time, 43 percent of the time hydro, and hydro had a relatively higher share in real-time in the winter period prior.  So, our points earlier about just thinking about non-quick start generators and their class and competing in their class, this moves to the point that Mr. Yauch and myself were raising earlier about there is lots of competition, at least historically on the margin, and we would expect to have or see similar competition on the margin going forward.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, thank you for that.  Now, you do say and the evidence that the NQS generators are subject to more market power mitigation parameters than other resources.  And maybe that would be useful by way of example.  For example, compared to hydroelectric resources.  So, maybe we can look at paragraph 64 and 65 of the Power Advisory report.  Okay.  64 says:
"Other supply resources such as qualified hydroelectric generators -- contrary to facing the risk of reduced commitment and dispatch as a result of the MRP amendments -- will have a variety of parameters included in the calculation engines that will provide greater control over commitment."

And then at paragraph 65 you say that, in a nutshell, that for hydro generators only ramp rates and maximum starts per day are subject to mitigation.  So, those resources, hydro resources, you say, can dictate the minimum amount of energy and other parameters, which I understand you say NQS can't.  I guess the question is about, you know, whether there's a difference in how these two generation types are treated, is that not a reflection of the fact that most hydro resources have limited control over their dispatch data parameters; do you agree with that?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I wouldn't -- position it as this:  Hydro-electric generators they need to adhere to requirements and regulations outside of electricity in terms of water management.  And how they operate their generating units, adhering to water-management requirements, in conjunction with the safety and the integrity of their units, that is a very specialized thing that has to be considered by every single hydroelectric operator.  And as I had said earlier, we agree that those parameters need to be addressed within the market.

I'll say -- I'll add to what I was saying earlier that these parameters are new.  These are new changes introduced by the Market Renewal Program through the Market Rules and associated Market Manuals, so we ultimately don't know how this is going to play out.  However, the whole intent, directionally, is to provide greater stability, greater control, how applicable hydroelectric generators would then operate their units.  And what we are inferring from that, given the fact that they, as I just mentioned based on that  response, there are a significant amount of times, even though on balance, gas-fired generators are priced more than hydroelectric generators, it is not an insignificant amount of times that they can set price.  And we think that is showing competition.

So if you connect all of these dots, if hydroelectric generators, the ones that could apply, it would be applied to use these parameters for greater control, and "control" meaning minimum production levels, control, where they must use the water to produce the energy, all of those things provide an advantage potentially for those hydroelectric generators to operate in the wholesale market, especially when they see prices at a certain level.

So I am not suggesting any gaming or anything like that, I am not suggesting any market power.  I am suggesting these are changes that market renewal is bringing on relative to the market today.

And then my final point is these parameters, not all of them, mostly parameters that hydro are going to use, it is not subject to any market power mitigation.  Now, I am not suggesting that it needs to be subject to mitigation under the conduct and impact test that the IESO has designed and embodied in the Market Rules under market renewal.  It is left open ended and, in my opinion, in our opinion, in terms of how these parameters are going to be used with respect to market renewal and when the market goes live in May, relative to other resources and what might be the causal effect of how hydroelectric generators may change their operations in the market, based on these parameters, and we think, directionally, it could impact non-quick start generators.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, for that.  Those are the last of my questions.

I am going to turn it over to my colleague, Mr. Akhter, who is going to ask some more technical questions.  I turn it over to him.

MR. AKHTER:  Thank you, Ljuba.
Examination by Mr. Akhter

MR. AKHTER:  So my first question is on the PA'S report, paragraph 58(d).  So I am just trying to understand the -- I guess I want the Power Advisory to kind of elaborate on the point that is being made in that paragraph, if you may.

MR. YAUCH:  Well, I will go first.  At a high level, it is showing that if you have a reference level, a proven reference level of $30 per megawatt-hour as calculated in the Market Manuals and associated workbooks, and you offer something different, let's say in this case $100 a megawatt-hour, and you are essentially caught or screened through the market power mitigation's screening process and you fail, first, the conduct test and then the impact test, then you would have your offers replaced or mitigated or resubmitted, however you want to phrase it, back to $30 a megawatt-hour.

And then, if you were the price-setting unit and you are still the price-setting unit at $30 a megawatt-hour, then the price then for that node becomes that $30 a megawatt-hour, and that is what all market participants will then see.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  So, just to clarify, PA, Power Advisory, is not suggesting that in this scenario the generator should be able to set that $100 per megawatt-hour price at the node.  You are just suggesting, well, we will -- you are just outlining a situation under which IESO would take an action?

MR. YAUCH:  That's right.  In a perfectly competitive market, obviously, marginal cost rules the day, and that is how everyone offers, but the reality is that people sometimes can diverge from marginal cost principles for a variety of reasons.  And, in a perfectly competitive market, competitive pressure will push them back to it.  That doesn't mean it pushes it back to them, back to it, completely, but just to highlight this outcome.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  The next question I have is, though, I am just trying to better understand how this kind of scenario would play out in the current market.  And so, if this scenario would happen in the unit, if a generator would offer a $100 per megawatt-hour, and they are in a transmission-constrained zone and, you know, they are not selected initially but, because of the transmission constraint, they are constrained on, the market current price will not be $100.  Right?

MR. YAUCH:  Correct.  If you are constrained on -- typically, you don't set the price -- it sort of depends how this happens.  Right?  If you are constrained on to it, it won't set the price, but there is a chance you could but, ultimately, if you are constrained on and your offer is greater than energy price or -- for whatever reason you will be paid a CMSC to make you financially whole.

So, for example, some generators today may offer very high offers because they don't actually want to run, but if the IESO needs them for reliability purposes, it will constrain on the units.  Say their offer is $2,000 a megawatt-hour, and the price is only $100 a megawatt-hour, well, then, they get a CMSC payment for the difference, the $1,900 difference between the two.

MR. AKHTER:  Understood.  While on the topic of market power, I just wanted to get the expert opinion on something that was mentioned, you know, the difference between hydroelectric generators and NQS generators and how they participate in the market.

I was just wondering if you could elaborate a little bit on -- I mean, we talked about the energy market quite a bit.  I was wondering if you could outline a little bit better on how they, both of them, operate in the operating zone market and how they compete with each other?

MR. YAUCH:  Both resources can participate in energy markets, but they can also compete to provide what's called standby services or ancillary services, however you want to phrase it.  And the OR market is essentially the opportunity cost in providing them operating energy markets.

So, if you can earn -- the price in an energy market is above your marginal costs, there is profit to be earned in that hour.  And if you were to provide a standby service through OR, and there are three classes of it -- the IESO walked you through those three classes yesterday, I don't need to repeat it -- but if you want to operate, offer operating reserve, you will try to recover the opportunity costs while not providing energy.

So, at a high level, they are all co-optimized in co-optimizations, optimizing the system through the lowest-cost solutions, so it has outcomes that sometimes can seem counterintuitive.  But that is essentially how the two different systems or two different markets kind of work in tandem with one another.

MR. AKHTER:  Would I be correct to suggest that, given the fuel source is very different between NQS and hydroelectric, you know that hydroelectricity will have, I guess, a limit on the fuel they have, right? - which is water, that they will participate quite differently in the operating zone market?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I think it -- before Mr. Yauch continues to respond, so I will just add it is important to note that as a class of generators, and I will use that term, non-quick start generators are similar in the sense that we have established they all have minimum generation block run times, minimum loading points, they are basically purchasing gas from the same place, they have transportation costs to get the gas to their burner tip, that could be different depending on where they are located.

And then, as we have established, their heat rates can be different, their efficiencies can be different, the minimum run time or MGBRT can be different in terms of the length.  But, by and large, they are similar that way, in terms of they have those characteristics.

Hydroelectric generation, there is more discrepancy, there is run-of-river that operates moreso as base load, as a price-taker.  But then, when you get to other forms of hydroelectric generation, ones that have the ability to store water, ones that have the ability to ramp really fast, those are the hydroelectric generators that will be competing more so with non-quick start generators, as well as gas, other gas-fired generators, even peakers.

If we had constructed an offer curve, we would be able to show you exactly where they generally all sit in that offer curve as they participate in the wholesale market.

So they compete on the prices and the quantities that they provide, but there are obviously specific considerations for hydro.  And, as we discussed, for some hydroelectric generators, the parameters that they are being afforded within market renewal are important to them in terms of how they manage their water.

So, for example, if you have a winter with a lot of snow combined with a spring where it's fairly cool, it's fairly cloudy, it's not humid, there could be a lot of hydroelectric energy.  And then there is a matter of how does that get managed.  But then there are times when you have the opposite effect and you get relatively less hydroelectric energy.

So all of those things would be factored into how the hydroelectric generator under those circumstances, facing those types of characteristics, would then participate in the market.

So I'll let Mr. Yauch pick up from there.

MR. YAUCH:  The only thing I will add is so you're correct in that they have different fuel costs, obviously.  So that would impact the way in which they participate in the energy market and the OR market.  And not to elaborate, reiterate what my colleague said, but there are years where there is a lot of water and there is a limited ability to store and hydroelectric resources cannot provide OR or can provide a limited amount of OR, and there are years when they are able to manage their water a bit better and they can provide OR more often and in greater supply.  I mean there are just a lot of moving parts on it.

I don't know if that answers your question, but I think it sort of gets to the different components that are going on just at a high level.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Well, I would like to make one last point because again there was a lot of talk yesterday about class and competing in class.  We have established that we don't think that's the case.  We think there is competition amongst all different types of resources, and Mr. Yauch and I both mentioned those.  But maybe the best example to show competition across, if you will now, different classes of generators is the operating reserve market because, when you go back in time to when the market was open, it was basically hydroelectric generation providing that operating reserve.

And then, because of supply needs, gas-fired generators were contracted en masse in the mid-to-late 2000s.  They were brought into service.  What is interesting to us is, for whatever reasons, not a lot of them were providing operating reserve.

And then, when I think they figured out that there was some competition there, they could make some more money, I think in combination with the IESO bringing in the day-ahead commitment process and the cost-guarantee programs, they became very competitive in providing operating reserve because, as my colleague, Mr. Yauch, has established, they got to understand how that market worked and invoking things like Real-Time GCG, synchronizing to the grid, achieving their minimum loading point, and then getting to their MGBRT.  And, if they weren't dispatched for energy, they were scheduled for a lot of OR.

And you go back to all the Market Surveillance Panel reports and you trace all that data through time.  That's exactly what has happened.  Given all the things we're seeing right now, there could be changes to that in the future.

MR. AKHTER:  Thank you.  Thank you for that.  One quick follow-up on that question:  So I know you have mentioned gas a couple of times and then the cost for that.  How far ahead does a gas generator procure the gas ahead of time?

MR. YAUCH:  Typically, the nomination window is the day before, but gas generators could have a variety of different services and storage and injection agreements and so on and so forth, so I think a lot of that is up to the different gas generators, how they manage their gas supply.  It can vary quite significantly.

MR. AKHTER:  So typically speaking, they will know, generally know, the price of gas before they will put their bids into the day-ahead market in MRP?

MR. YAUCH:  At a high level, but, again, the gas market is highly complex.  We always joke about the complexity of the electricity market.  The gas market is very similar, so I'm not going to conjecture on how they are managing their gas on a daily basis.

MR. AKHTER:  I understand.  Okay.  I would like to move on to the NQS evidence for paragraph 47(b) of the Power Advisory report.  Here, you talk about the two-settlement system, which is new, and how it can have negative consequences.  So I'm just going to wait for the reference to come up.  Okay.

And so my question here is that the word "clawback" is mentioned here, and I know IESO tends to use the word "buyback."  I mean, is there a reason why "clawback" was used here instead?

MR. YAUCH:  No.  No, I think it was --


MR. AKHTER:  Okay.

MR. YAUCH:  -- semantics.  I don't know if that's the right word for it, but, essentially --


MR. AKHTER:  Okay.

MR. YAUCH:  -- that's what it is.

MR. AKHTER:  I just wanted to understand better.

So I see the example that you have mentioned here.  And I am in that, the -- sorry, I am just looking at the reference here.  And so, for example, I know that you mentioned the negative scenario here.  Are these negative scenarios from the two-settlement system used in the impact to generator that are mentioned down there?

MR. YAUCH:  No.  So --


MR. AKHTER:  Okay.

MR. YAUCH:  -- quite a bit was made about this in the IESO response evidence.  This is not --


MR. AKHTER:  Okay.

MR. YAUCH:  -- factored into any of our calculations.

MR. AKHTER:  Sorry.  Thank you.  Thank you.  Maybe I missed that.  Is it possible that the same two-settlement system might end up having a benefit to an NQS generator?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  And then would it be fair to say that this two-settlement system is the same for all market participants and not just NQS?  In terms of the risks, I mean.

MR. YAUCH:  No.  So, for many resources, it is.  But, for some resources, it is not, and that's largely because we needed some contract design.  But, if you look at wind and solar, they would base a potential risk that they are scheduled in the day-ahead process based on the IESO's forecast, if that's the forecast they decided to use.  They can use their own.  And then in real-time, if they failed to actually deliver the energy that they were forecasted for, they would have to buy back or get to claw back, however you want to phrase it -- we'll go with buy back because that seems less offensive.  They have to buy back the energy, but, due to the term sheet amendments that are published on the IESO's website as a result of MRP, the contract essentially makes them whole to that financial risk.

So, while there was a market risk and, actually, it would have been very significant for wind and solar, there was a commensurate off-setting mechanism to deal with that financial risk.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay, thank you.  I would like to move down to appendix C, figure 22.  It is on page 61 of the PDF.  I know we have talked about it quite a bit with IESO, but I would like to just clarify some of the points that are being made here.

So the financial impact you mention in figure 22 -- if I missed that, apologies in advance -- that is only for the revenue that an NQS generator earns from the market, including the out-of-market payments; it does not include any of the impacts from the contract, themselves; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That is correct.  This table is just IESO-administered market payments in the wholesale market, nothing to do with contracts.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  If you move up to Appendix A, on page 56, I see that the list of generators is there.  And, at the very bottom, you have a footnote that says that the York Energy Centre and the East Windsor Cogen are not NQS generators; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  They don't always participate as NQS spaces because they operate differently because they can be quick start.  So, yes, at a high level, that's what that means.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  Sorry, just to clarify, so there is a scenario where they do participate as an NQS generator?

MR. YAUCH:  I don't actually know if they have the option to participate, for the two, but I think, in terms of the York one, you would have to go into a contract discussion of how it's contracting and how the contract dictates its dispatch.  But it typically participates as a quick-start generator.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  No, I was just curious because my understanding based from IESO's questioning was that these megawatts are all added up together to come up with some of the average impacts in your analysis.  I was just curious as to some of these potentially non-quick-start generators that are in there.

So the other question I have is that, in appendix B and if you go to paragraph 57(c), I see that you have some numbers in here regarding the marginal cost and minimum loading point and the start-up costs and all of that.  Are these numbers just notional, or are they meant to represent how they differ between different NQS generators?

MR. YAUCH:  These are notional.  This is a very academic, high-level exercise to just kind of piece together difference in commitment dispatch based on three-part offers and non-three-part offers and the total cost envelope and the economic barrier that I was talking about with your colleague earlier.

MR. AKHTER:  No, I understand.  And so, like, I was just further looking at the start-up costs; right?  And I'm assuming that, for example, unit A might be doing a cold start, maybe that's why start-up costs are so high compared to unit C who might be doing a hard start, or that sort of stuff?  Or not really?

MR. YAUCH:  There's all sorts of reasons.  If you look at unit A, fore example, it has a very high minimum loading point compared to its max capacity.  So, in order to get to that minimum loading point -- I'm just going to say MLP because that's a bit easier -- against the MLP it would conceivably have to use more gas, so the start-up costs could be higher.  But, again, theoretical example just to highlight some of the nuances of the future market.

MR. AKHTER:  I understand.  And so, I think that -- and if I'm not wrong, I think in IESO's reply evidence they also make this point that if you look at the current market, what would different happen?  I know in just your hypothetical scenario you only mentioned that what will happen in the new market, but what would happen differently in the current market?

MR. YAUCH:  Our interpretation of the current market is that you would commit and dispatch the pre-dispatch timeframe on marginal cost offers only.  So marginal costs of unit A, you would go to unit A, and then B and you go from there.  So unit A and then unit B would be constrained on.  Obviously that violates the system demand to 475 so you would have to back some other resource off or do some sort of export.  But that is because you're committing on marginal costs and you're going from A to B.  B, the moment the price gets to its marginal cost level it can then invoke the Real-Time GCG and get itself on.  And then that self-commitment through the Real-Time GCG is not dealing so much to constraints because you're self-invoking it.

MR. AKHTER:  I'm sorry.  Did I understand correctly that unit B would be committed and scheduled?

MR. YAUCH:  That is our interpretation of the current market, because you would be able to self-invoke through the Real-Time GCG.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay, but it -- okay.  I understand.  But one thing I would like to understand is that between the current market and the new market, the operational realities will not change; correct?  Like, it's not like -- the Market Rules do not change how these resources are meant to operate operationally; right?  The transmission constraints, the ramp rates or whatever, you mean, MG-BRT, or minimum loading points and all that stuff, that will not change.  So the only thing that is changing is the market rules; right?  And how they're scheduled.

MR. YAUCH:  The prices associated with how to schedule through LMPs, but yes, the engineering, the physics of the grid, should remain the same.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you for that.  So, in your analysis, I think you also mentioned this a couple of minutes ago regarding, you know, how things are co-optimized between energy and operating reserve.  And I did not quite see that in any of the analysis that is mentioned in there unless I missed it; is that correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.  That would involve a much more detailed holistic -- whole entire dispatch software and then we, for the reasons we discussed with the IESO earlier, we did not go down that road.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  So, I know that a couple of times we mentioned, you know, that the invoking of the RT-GCG commitment and being able to adjust prices right down to PD-3 and looking at -- just give me one second, please -- and looking at paragraph 57(f) it is stated that commitment somewhere in between -- it says:

"Commitment decision in the current IESO administered market does not factor in many of the physical constraints that will be considered under the MRP amendments."

So, just to clarify here.  So, when you say commitment versus dispatch, it's different; right?  Because I think what you're suggesting is that in the current market because the commitment happens without respecting any of the constraints, that is now going to be different in the new market; correct?

MR. YAUCH:  Sorry, I was muted.  As the IESO said -- I mean, commitment through the Real-Time GCG you invoke it based on the shadow prices not on the unconstrained price.  Throughout here we refer to both, but that is correct.  The shadow price does, in essence, factor in some of the transmission constraints because that's what it's designed to do, it's a constrained model.  But in terms of invoking the GCG as long as the incremental energy price is at a certain point and you're economical over half your MG-BRT, you can self-invoke the Real-Time GCG and then the IESO manually enters that constrained calculation again.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  And in the very next sentence it says:
"To the extend any are, they are communicated in PD prices that are shared with the NQS Generators in advance of voluntary commitment decisions through the RT-GCG, giving them the opportunity to adjust offers and operating strategies around these constraints."

So, I'm just wondering, given that you also mentioned that the price is being changed all the way down to PD-3, does it kind of suggest that the NQS Generators should be able to adjust their offers, you know, right down -- you know, to the extent that they might not represent their operating characteristics, just to get a commitment?

MR. YAUCH:  They can adjust their energy offers to the extent that they want a commitment.  If prices are one way and they for whatever reason want a Real-Time GCG commitment, maybe they think OR prices are going to be a certain way, or prices beyond their MG-BRT will be a certain manner and they want to make ensure they are online to capture those markets' revenues and profits, they can adjust their offers up until PD-2 and then the mandatory window closes.  But they can manoeuvre around energy offers if they want to achieve a certain outcome, or try to.  Obviously, if the market is competitive, then the whole market will be moving around this and there will be a lot of adjusting, but it gives them an opportunity and flexibility to adjust their offers.

MR. AKHTER:  And that option is only available to NQS generators?  To do this?  For a GCG commitment everyone else, everyone else is competing in the same timeframe to adjust their energy offers if they want to be dispatched or not, so exports/imports typically have an offer guarantee.  We won't deal with that right now, but there are other participants in a competitive market all competing.  So opportunity cost hydro is also responding competitive pressure from NQS generators, imports or exports are responding to it, storage to certain extents.  So there's a whole bunch of resources all competing throughout the pre-dispatch price process if they want to achieve, or are trying to achieve, a certain outcome.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  IESO kind of suggested in yesterday that the imports tend not to participate in all those guarantees and in the DACP process just because they don't know, you know, they don't know how they're going to participate in the market.

MR. YAUCH:  Exports.

MR. AKHTER:  Exports, sorry.

MR. YAUCH:  So, in the example appendix B, this is actually a very good point.  The IESO says, oh, well the DACP price was $15 below on average the pre-dispatch price on that given day, and that's correct.  And one of the reasons is that exports don't typically participate in the DACP process because of the risk in the way they're scheduled.  So, what happens is as you go from DACP into the pre-dispatch process, you start to see exports participating, load increases, as load increases, you go up to economic merit order, prices increase, and the opportunity for a Real-Time GCG commitment increases.  And that's largely because Ontario being, at least historically, a large exporter, there is a significant amount of load that is not actually captured in DACP.

So, when the IESO says the DACP and the future DAM are the same thing, they are not at all.  There is a very significant difference that's the way these resources participate are very different, amongst other issues, but we will highlight that one now that they are -- when we say they are essentially the same thing, that is not true.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  So, this is my last question.  I know Mr. Chee-Aloy and Mr. Yauch, both of you have kind of outlined some of the things between the current market and the new market and, you know, the look-ahead, you know, LMP was mentioned, the two settlement is not mentioned, and the ramp rates are mentioned.  And I think there was -- it was kind of, you know, implied that while so many things are changing and they all have impacts and we might know how those impacts will happen in the market.  My question is:  Isn't that what that -- the impact the across all market participants?  Or is it that only for NQS generators?

MR. YAUCH:  I am going to take a crack at this:  I mean, there are certain risks in terms, of, like, two settlement.  I think LAP in particular would impact NQS generators more than others, if there is a financial risk
-- a financial impact.  Again, that's not included in our analysis or anything, so I don't want you to think that.  But hydro resources don't have to have procure gas; typically imports, exports, storage.  Storage may be to a certain extent, but there are a lot of resources that don't require any sort of long-term procurement or day-ahead procurement of inputs that, if then, if they do get a schedule and they maybe get those inputs, then they are liable to -- you know, they have to try to recover those costs.  So there are other resources that are not really impacted by that.

Ramp rate, I think that is a risk facing lots of resources.  I think resources like wind and solar, it just doesn't really matter to them because they are essentially price-takers, anyways.  But, yeah, those risks are prevalent for others.  So that's why we didn't calculate them.  We don't think they are that material at a high level, and we don't think that they are unjust for one group of class -- one group of participants compared to another.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  Thank you, so much.  That's all, for me.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Akhter and witnesses.  The next order of questioning goes to CCC.  So, over to you, Mr. Gluck.
Examination by Mr. Gluck

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  Good afternoon.  My name is Lawrie Gluck, and I am a consultant with the Consumers Council of Canada.  I only have a few questions remaining today, given the questions that were already asked, and they are all focused on appendices B and C of the Power Advisory evidence.

So, starting at page 62, just to make sure I understand, in appendix C you moved from a single-day analysis of the impact of MRP for the proxy NQS generator as set out in appendix B to an annual analysis for the six-year period 2018 to 2023.  Is that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. GLUCK:  And with respect to the proxy generator, did you use the same operational parameters as you did in the appendix B example?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. GLUCK:  And did you go through each day of that six-year period and apply the same logic for commitment and dispatch as you did in appendix B, to determine the cost of revenues between the current Market Rules and the amended Market Rules?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.

MR. GLUCK:  Right.  Thank you.  And earlier today, you said that the incremental energy offer price used in appendix B and C is based on the daily Dawn price.  Did I get that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. GLUCK:  And is that a spot price?

MR. YAUCH:  It is, yeah, the daily S&P price, what they publish.  And then we convert it.  That's in U.S. dollars, so we convert it to Canadian dollars versus -- using the Bank of Canada exchange rate.

MR. GLUCK:  Right.  Thank you.

And you just discussed with Mr. Akhter that gas-fired generators would actually have different gas-supply procurement strategies than just buying spot gas.  Is that fair?

MR. YAUCH:  I would assume so.  I don't know about all the different gas-supply plans, internally.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And so can you just briefly explain why you are using a spot price for natural gas in determining the incremental energy offer?

MR. YAUCH:  That's how the contracts calculate their incremental energy cost.  There is a tried-and-true method into how we determine incremental energy costs in the wholesale market.

Michael may be able to speak to this a bit more, if we have to, but it is essentially a tried-and-true method that already works in terms of how we figure out what a standard incremental energy cost is for a gas-fired generator.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I will add, Mr. Gluck, that given the location of the NQS generators, the Dawn price would be appropriate as to another hub.  And the transportation costs, they can differ, but for the purposes of this analysis, pretty minimal in terms of how much they would differ, and it wouldn't impact the analysis any which way.

So we felt that it was pretty uniform in terms of the application of the Dawn hub.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.  I think my question is more about the use of a spot price versus something else.  And your answer I think is that the contract set that out.  Is that fair?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yeah, fair.  No, no -- so I can answer that, too.  So, understood.  So we didn't opine on gas arrangement and gas strategy when it comes to how individual NQS generators may actually purchase and hedge their gas.  I think it's safe to say based on our experience working with gas-fired generators that there are times when they have to buy spot.  So we think that that's okay.

And without getting into whether they buy forward and how they sell and manage that, whether it is on prompt month or seasonal, it doesn't push and pull the analysis one way or the other.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, thank you.  So the impact for the proxy generator shown in figure 22, of $21 million, was grossed up to reflect the capacity owned by the entire NQS Group to come up with the $140 million impact for the six-year period.  Is that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That is correct.

MR. GLUCK:  And you also just discussed this with Mr. Akhter.  The York Energy Centre and the East Windsor Cogeneration facilities do not earn RT-GCG revenues.  Is that right?

MR. YAUCH:  The York Energy Centre typically is contracted a little bit differently.  We don't want to get into individual contracts, so it will sometimes operate as a quick-start generator.  The East Windsor facility, I don't know if it constantly operates as a quick start or a non-quick start, so we can take that under advisement, if you want, an undertaking.

Because I don't know; I am not prepared to give an answer on that, right now, because I am not a hundred percent sure.  We assumed it operates as a non-quick start generator, but there may be times in which it doesn't.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  If you would like to take an undertaking that would be helpful.

MR. YAUCH:  Well, define "like."

MR. GLUCK:  Would you take an undertaking?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JT2.4.
UNDERTAKING JT2.4:  NQS TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE YORK ENERGY CENTRE AND THE EAST WINDSOR COGENERATION FACILITY EARN RT-GCG REVENUES

MR. GLUCK:  Thanks.  And if I were simply accept your analysis as a reasonable estimate of the financial impact of MRP, in terms of the total six-year impact of $21 million, does this reflect the 22 percent reduction to net margin for the proxy generator?

MR. YAUCH:  I haven't -- I am not going to do math on the stand.  I am assuming you are getting that from the table, so I am just going to take your math as correct because it seems reasonable.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.

MR. YAUCH:  But I haven't -- I don't have the percentage in my head right now.

MR. GLUCK:  Thanks.  And it is just that $21 million in the far-right column, divided by $96 million under --


MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  Yeah, I don't have any issue with that, but I don't have my calculator with me, so yes, we will go with that.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  And the $140 million reduction for all NQS Group generators, so you sort of grossed it up by capacity for the whole group, based on the way your analysis worked, would that also be a 22 percent reduction in that margin?

MR. YAUCH:  It would, yes.  Yeah.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.  Okay.  Thank you.  And I just have two very brief questions for undertakings left.  Would it be possible for you to provide a live Excel working copy of figures 19, 20, and 22?

MR. YAUCH:  So you are saying you just want the Excel output, that table output?

MR. GLUCK:  If the output schedule shows how all the math was done, then yes.  But, if it doesn't, sort of the working papers.  How did you get to all the numbers?

MR. YAUCH:  That's a proprietary model.  I am happy to walk you through exactly how we did it.  The information is probably available but, I mean, that is our proprietary model that --


MR. GLUCK:  Okay.

MR. YAUCH:  We can give you the outputs, but we are not going to give you the model.

MR. GLUCK:  So does the model have any -- sorry.  Do the outputs have any -- do they have the formulas in them, or anything like that?  Or?

MR. YAUCH:  The outputs are a summing of all the different impacts on an hourly basis.  Right?

MR. GLUCK:  It is just like a static page that will show the same numbers?

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah.  It's just an output of whatever is determined, through the dispatch process.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I am just going to ask a similar undertaking.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we are seeking the full -- we were going to ask the same undertaking, to seek the underlying, if it is an Excel file or whatever, as well as the underlying working papers that make up the analysis.

I am just unclear how you can provide a report, provide [audio dropout] and refuse to provide the models that work with it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, you cut out.  So it is not clear what your undertaking request is.  Can we take another run at it, starting with, first of all, Mr. Gluck's request, describe that, and then, Mr. Rubenstein, you can supplement that and we will see if counsel agrees to that.

MR. GLUCK:  So, just to try again, it's the working papers.  I'm calling it "live Excel spreadsheets."  I want the formulas.  I want to see how all the math works underpinning figures 19, 20, and 22.

MR. YAUCH:  And it's not "working papers."  It's a proprietary model and analysis that we did, so this is not a regulated utility that has working papers that comes up with an outcome.  It's our internal proprietary model.  And I'm happy to provide a detailed description of how we did it and the publicly available data in which one can recreate it if they like, but it is our proprietary model.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'll have to consider that.  Thanks.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just to clarify, is there an undertaking to produce something?

MR. GLUCK:  Well, it's a refusal.  Well, it's not a refusal.

MR. YAUCH:  No, it's -- we're refusing to do that undertaking.  I'm saying that on behalf --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I'll mark it JT2.5, as a refusal, just so it's clear on the record.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING JT2.5:  NQS TO FILE A LIVE EXCEL VERSION showing THE CALCULATIONS OF THE DATA IN figures 19, 20, and 22 IN THE POWER ADVISORY REPORT (REFUSED)


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just so I'm clear, you've presented information in your report, analysis that is in your report, and Power Advisory, to be clear, [audio dropout] providing the underlying information.  I recognize it may be a proprietary model.  And the Board has a process for confidential information.  But Power Advisory, to be clear, is the one who is refusing?  Or is this the -- Mr. Vellone, are you -- is it your client who is refusing to provide the information?  I am a bit unclear.

MR. VELLONE:  It is Power Advisory's proprietary model.  I think what you've heard is that they are willing to provide an explanation of exactly how they did it, together with references to publicly available data.  If you want to recreate it, you can.  But they are not willing to provide to the parties in this proceeding the live Excel model that has been requested.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So maybe I could just understand.  When you're talking about -- if it's publicly available information, it's these calculations, what is the model that is proprietary here?

MR. YAUCH:  The model creates a dispatch process that reaches the outcomes.  So we walk through the process in Appendices B and C, and then we create the actual model that takes that process and puts it into reality and provides the calculations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you're refusing to provide that information that essentially makes the calculations that are the basis of Appendices B and C?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.

MR. GLUCK:  So, when your model is committing the NQS generator under the current Market Rules, it chooses any six-hour block where three hours of the offer price is below the PD-3 price; is that the logic it uses?

MR. YAUCH:  That's the design of the Real-Time GCG program.  Right?  When it is economic or, i.e., as you describe it, your PD-3 price is greater than your incremental energy offer for three hours, you can sell them both through the Real-Time GCG program.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, and what is it doing under the MRP amendments?

MR. YAUCH:  Instead of half of the hours, it has to be economic for a total of six hours.

MR. GLUCK:  It has to be a total of six hours.  And the PD-3 is the unconstrained PD-3 prices --


MR. YAUCH:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  -- and you just used all, hourly, every day, six years?

MR. YAUCH:  So that came from the IESO, as well, the discussion that we're using the unconstrained prices and dispatch and shadow prices.  That is fair.  The proxy generator, we didn't want to pick a node, so we thought just to show the potential impact we used those unconstrained prices but recognizing that, in reality, it is shadow prices that will determine commitment and dispatch to the Real-Time GCG.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And, the operating reserve price, also it's the historical actual price?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  And the start-up cost is just the estimate for the proxy?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.  I mean, it's 6,000 MMBtus times the gas price for that day.  So there, in figure 21, there is a dollar sign there, the $6,000, but it is actually 6,000 MMBtu times the gas price.  So, on a given day wherever it is, figure 19 where you have a start-up cost of $18,000, it's the gas price times 6,000 that gets you that start-up cost.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And then just back to the offer price, so it's a -- you used -- what did you say you used for the --


MR. YAUCH:  Start-up cost --


MR. GLUCK:  Yes, the DON price.  Like, where did you get that?

MR. YAUCH:  S&P.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Gluck.

The last questions are from SEC.  So over to you, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.
Examination by Mr. Rubenstein

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Witnesses, I just want to start with one question just so I can better understand how the market operates with some of your questions, and that's with respect to the MRP.  I just want to understand how this actually works or how this is supposed to work.

In the day-ahead market, the IESO is looking at a 24-hour period, the day ahead.  How does a 27 -- I mean, you're looking now past a day.  Can you help me understand how that is meant to work?  It just seems to [audio dropout] face.  It just seems a little bit --


MR. YAUCH:  I will say you're breaking up a little bit, so I'll just explain how I think your question is.

So, in the future, you will have the day-ahead process.  You have to have your energy bids and offers in by 10:00 a.m. eastern.  So let's say today they had to be in by 10:00 for tomorrow, and then that runs through the calculation engine process, and then it gives results.  I believe it's 3:00 eastern, but in the afternoon.  And there are adjustments and various different calculation engines running to set the day-ahead process, and then you get your scheduled commitment for the day-ahead process.  And then I think it's at 7:00 or 8:00 at night -- I can look at the exact date.  Then, from then, the pre-dispatch process kicks in from three hours essentially before midnight, for the next 27 hours, and starts readjusting the day-ahead commitments and scheduling.  Not readjusting, it starts running through the pre-dispatch process for the next 27 hours.  So it looks ahead, and then it starts resetting the system as required due to change in demand and supply conditions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  And I note you were saying you were having trouble.  I was wondering if we could take a five-minute break.  I'm just having some issues on my end.  Maybe I need to restart my computer.  Maybe we could take the afternoon break or a short break, Ms. Djurdjevic?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sure.  Is 10 minutes okay, back at 3:25?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:14 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:25 p.m.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  I just want to follow up on some questions and some discussion you had with OEB Staff about their questions.  Let me first -- I want to follow up on an exchange that was had before the lunch break where Ms. Djurdjevic was asking about, you know, the efficiency benefits of MRP and, I think, the assertion in her view, or maybe others, about the overcompensation to NQS Generators that is being remedied by way of the MRP amendments and she was asking about the impact on NQS Generators.

And, Mr. Chee-Aloy, your response, and I'm paraphrasing it, was:  Well, sure, but NQS Generators may now change their offer strategies and that may have a knock-on effect involving -- in their operating strategies and then, you know, through the dispatch algorithm may involve dispatching higher cost resources.  Am I accurately reflecting the gist of your comments?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  That is accurate.  And that's just speculation, just to suggest that market renewal has a lot of different rule changes, a lot of new design changes, and then when the machine gets turned on in May then participants will react accordingly with what they see in the market and then inevitably things will change.  So it was conjecture on my part.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So, I think you're getting at where my question was going to be.  You've done no analysis to substantiate that that is likely to occur?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  That's right.  And as Mr. Yauch had said when he was talking about his analysis, we made the decision upon being engaged that doing any sort of forecast, it would just be an argument of assumptions.  So the best thing to do would be to go back and use as much historic information, obviously factual, and then run the model, given the changes -- isolating the changes that are impactful to the non-quick start generators.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And now, with respect to market power mitigation framework, would it be correct that a market that settles based on LMP as opposed to a uniform price, financially settles, is more prone to potentially market power issues?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  I don't think that that's a conclusion; right?  There are certainly -- I don't know how many nodes.  It's something like 2,000 in Ontario.  So there's going to be 2,000 prices.  But the way the market power mitigation works, the conduct and impact test, one of the main triggers is transmission constraints and the IESO calls them constrained areas, but there is multiple -- there is multiple constrained areas in terms of how they're defined.  Long-standing constraints, that's a narrow constraint, a dynamic -- like, for example, picture the topography of the transmission system as we know it.  We know there are certain areas of the grid such as the north zones in Ontario that are continuously transmission-constrained.  So, that is an example of what the IESO would call as a narrow-constrained area and they will publish that information on an annual basis, so market participants know that's exactly what it is.  The point is you have to be behind or inside one of these constrained areas to trigger market power mitigation.

So, I don't know if I need to go through all of that in terms of how it works.  I'm happy to do that, or Mr. Yauch is happy to do that.  But I would say that based on experience -- I worked on Appendix 7.6, those are the local market power rules that exist today.  There is a lot of work going on at the IESO with respect to market power mitigation and then that's embodied in the Market Surveillance Panel reports regarding mitigating congestion management settlement credits.

So, my point is there is a lot of market power mitigation that the IESO market assessment unit is undertaking right now under today's rules, and there will be market power mitigation in the future based on MRP.  The difference is the conduct and impact test.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah, I'm not asking about the specifics of what the MRP mitigation, but at a higher level, wouldn't you agree that moving to an LMP there needs to be -- there is a greater chance that you may have the exercise of market power, that the IESO needs to create a framework to deal with?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Based on how it's set up, I don't know if you can reach that conclusion, relative to today.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  I would just like to ask quickly about the make-up of the NQS Generator group, which you set out in paragraph 1 of your report.  And, as I understand it, it includes Capital Power, Thorold CoGen, Portland Energy Centre doing business as Atura Power, St. Clair Power and TransAlta; do I have that correct?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if we go to page 57 of your report, this is Appendix A, you list the NQS Generators.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, these are specific facilities; correct?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Mm-hmm.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, what I didn't see there was Brighton Beach Generating Station which, as I understand, is owned by Atura Power.  And is their exclusion from this list -- was there a reason for their exclusion?  Are they not part -- do you not consider them an NQS Generator?  Am I missing something?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  No, they're a non-quick start generator.  In drafting our report, in looking at the impacts of Market Renewal Program; right?  We also assess the impacts on contracts; right?  And -- actually, where was I going with this?  So, I'm going to strike that because I was heading in a place that wasn't going to make sense.  Forgive me.

Brady, I don't know if you want to --


MR. YAUCH:  I don't know why they're not included to be honest.  So we can undertake to see why they're not included.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, maybe I'll back up and understand how the group came about.  Is it the companies and then you then determine which were the generators that fall under the companies that were retained?  Or is it they told you, here are our NQS generators?  Like, the facilities?

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Rubenstein, BLG was retained by the companies and then we retained Power Advisory to do independent expert work on their behalf.  And then Power Advisory undertook to create a list of facilities as an appendix to their report so that they could give meaning to what this group was.  And so, I think they've offered to undertake to check that list for you.  Do you want that marked?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, please.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JT2.6.
UNDERTAKING JT2.6:  NQS TO ASK POWER ADVISORY TO CONFIRM THE LIST OF FACILITIES IN its REPORT


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then in footnote 37 you mention how the York Energy Centre in East Windsor do not participate as NQS Generators and the RTs, a GCG program, and there was some discussion with Mr. Gluck about that.  And I just want to be clear -- and I heard from the discussion is, well, they act as quick start generators, or at least some kind of -- just maybe you can clarify what you were saying there?

MR. YAUCH:  There was an undertaking to clarify whether they were participating as NQS or quick start.  They have unique facilities, those two in particular, and they're -- in the case of York, it may be contracted differently.  So, there is a whole bunch of things going on with those two, and that's why we undertook just to clarify how those two relate to rest of the group.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.  I just want to understand what you were retained to provide evidence on.  And in paragraph 1 of your evidence you say you were asked to provide expert evidence regarding financial harm regarding the NQS Generation Group resulting from the MRP evidence.  I understand that is generally what you were asked to do.

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want to understand what financial harm, what you mean by financial harm to the NQS Generators?  Can you tell us how you define financial harm?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Basically assessing how they were remunerated under today's market, based on today's design and rules, and comparing that how they would be remunerated in the market renewal design and the Market Renewal Program rules.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, would it be fair to characterize financial harms for the purposes of your analysis to be the reduction in revenue or is it the reduction of net margins from the current market to the MRP market?

MR. YAUCH:  Appendix B and C, or particularly Appendix C, it's net -- it's both.  It's looking at the revenues and costs and then the net margin between the two.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But for the purposes of concluding financial harm, is it the revenues or the net margins?

MR. YAUCH:  The net margin is what we focused on.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, in your evidence -- no, sorry, go ahead.  I didn't mean to cut you off.

MR. YAUCH:  No, go on, sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In your evidence you explained in a number of places your views on the impact of the MRP amendments and how they specifically impact NQS Generators and, in some cases, how those impacts compare to other resource types.  Is that fair?

MR. YAUCH:  That's fair.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I didn't see anywhere in your report that you discuss the appropriateness, the fairness, or the justness of any of those MRP amendments.  Do I have that right?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.  We highlight the benefits case and the business case that the IESO produced, as at the beginning of MRP and then as MRP was proceeding.  And those, both of those clearly highlight the efficiency benefits of what they undertook.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you independently were not asked and you are not opining on the fairness of those amendments, the justness of those amendments.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct, yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So even if they have a financial harm to generators, you are not opining if that's fair or just.  Correct?

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct.  That's -- yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, in the NQS Generators' application, this is at paragraph 39, and you are probably familiar; we don't need to go to it.  But they take the position that the MRP amendments are also inconsistent with a number of purposes under the Electricity Act, namely:

"(d), to promote the use of cleaner energy sources and technologies, including alternative energy sources and renewable energy sources in a matter consistent with the policies of the government of Ontario.
(g), to promote economic efficiency and sustainability in the generation, transmission, distribution and sale of electricity, and to facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable electricity industry."

Does your evidence address any of that?  Were you asked to opine on how the MRP amendments are inconsistent with any of those purposes, and did you?

MR. YAUCH:  No, no.  No and no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In appendix B and C, you provide an analysis based on the proxy NQS generator.  And we have obviously discussed at length the financial analysis that you did.

Can I ask why you approached this from the view of a proxy generator and didn't look at the financial and physical parameters of the actual generators that make up the NQS Generation Group?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Well, basically what we tried to do was knowing that there is a range of operational parameters and different characteristics, like time of minimum loading point, lead time to get to minimum loading point, the amount of MGBRT, start-up costs, heat rates, we basically tried to, rather than pick a single one, stylize a proxy NQS generator that really sits in the middle of the range of all of those parameters.  Right?

So we would probably in our opinion result in an analysis and outcomes that are reasonable and they are not skewed one way or the other, right? - in terms of the parameters on one end of the spectrum versus the parameters on the other end of the spectrum.

MR. YAUCH:  If I can just add one thing to that comment, having done a lot of the analysis, that sitting in an average means that, within that group, some will be worse and better off, right?  We believe the financial harm is spread across the class but, within that class, there will be some that are worse off than others.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when you say it sits as an average, what is the basis of that?  So did you ask for all of their generators' information so that you can derive an average to come up with the proxy?  What is the basis of that?

MR. CHEE-ALOY:  Based on our knowledge, right, just over time, we have a sense of, being analysts in this market, generally where those generators sit when it comes to some of those parameters.  I mean, that is some commercially sensitive information.

So we did not go back to the NQS generators as listed in this application to ask them for any of that information.  What we did was we said this is our suggested way of starting the analysis with a proxy generator.  Here are the suggested parameters.  Do you agree in its reasonableness?  And that's how it all got set.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Did you seek or receive information from the specific NQS generators that are part of the -- or either the generators or the companies that are part of the NQS Generation Group that informed your report, either as part of this engagement or --


MR. YAUCH:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  One second.  Thank you, very much.  I appreciate it.

MR. YAUCH:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So that brings us to the conclusion of the technical conference.

In terms of the outstanding answers to undertakings and refusals, if people have a change of heart and decide to answer them, would Monday be a reasonable date by which you can all provide those answers?  Okay.  Well, hearing no objection, let's make it Monday.

MR. VELLONE:  I think it is in the procedural order, Ljuba, and it is Monday.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, it is, on Monday.

MR. VELLONE:  The 13th I think is the date.  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good.  Okay.  So I don't believe there are any procedural or other matters.  So I wish you all a good rest of the day and thank you very much.  We will see most of you, next week, at the hearing.
--- Whereupon the proceeding concluded at 3:41 p.m.
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